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Welcome

Low & Bonar PLC is an international
group manufacturing and supplying 
a wide range of products in the
Specialist Materials market. 

Specialist Materials is an international
business, supplying technical textiles
and flooring products to a broad
range of customers.

Front Cover
1st column top to bottom:
Chocflex high performance resilient
acoustic vinyl flooring.

Bonar TF supplied Bontec NW18
nonwoven geotextiles on the Gosselies
Airport, Belgium.

Front Cover
2nd column top to bottom:
Colback PET carrier in Waterproof
bituminous roofing membrane — 
Warsaw, Poland.

Nuway protective entrance flooring system.

Front Cover
3rd column top to bottom:
Bonar technical fabrics darkening and
energy screens on pot plant greenhouse —
Emsburen, Germany.

Tessera carpet tiles for the office
environment.

Front Cover
4th column top to bottom:
Bonar grass for hockey.

Chocflex acoustic vinyl flooring in 
airport application.

Above left: Bontec NW23 nonwoven geotextiles on Bierset airport, Belgium.
Above centre: Axminster carpet with Bonar backing yarn.
Above right: High performance Tessera Tiles — St Paul’s Cathedral, London.



Main picture: Nuway entrance flooring system
for intense use applications.

Top smaller picture: Flotex new High Definition
range using digital printing technology.

Bottom smaller picture: Tessera carpet tiles in
office environment.

Floors 
Flooring solutions to a global market.

Targeting markets such as healthcare, office, education, transport,
public buildings, leisure and retail. Our Floors division makes a
number of brand name solutions such as Flotex, Coral, Chocflex,
Nuway, Threshold and Tessera.

INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS
Healthcare
Education
Transport

Public Buildings
Leisure & Hospitality

Office Buildings
Retail

Residential Housing

PRODUCTS
Specialist Flooring:

Flocked Floor Products
Tufted Carpet Tiles

Acoustic Vinyl
Textile Entrance Matting
Rigid Entrance Matting

Performance Vinyls



Technical Textiles
Extrusion, non-woven and weaving technology are the core 
of the polypropylene yarns and fabrics business.

Our Technical Textiles division serves specialised markets such as the
carpet industry, industrial textiles, synthetic grass, the horticultural
market, civil engineering and industrial applications on a global scale.

Main picture: Enkadrain, drainage layer in tunnelling
— Gotthard base tunnel, Switzerland.

Top smaller picture: Enka-fusion flow medium for
resin transfer moulding in Windmill rotor blades 
— Middelgrunden, Denmark.

Bottom smaller picture: Bontec SNW70 superior
protection nonwoven geotextiles for membrane
protection — landfill project in the UK.

TECHNICAL TEXTILES
Fibrilated Yarns

Synthetic construction fibres for 
cementitious products

Grass Yarns
Woven Fabrics

Non-woven fabrics

INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS
Yarns:

Carpet industry
Industrial Textiles
Synthetic grass

Technical Textiles:
Horticultural

Civil Engineering
Carpet Industry

Industrial Applications
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2006 2005

Revenue £224.5m £175.4m + 28%
Profit before taxation, amortisation and non-recurring items £14.7m £12.2m + 20.5%
Basic earnings per share 5.80p (6.39p) + 110%
Dividend per share 4.38p 4.15p + 5.5%

• Successful £41.1m rights issue (net of costs) and increased debt facility of £175m.

• Acquisition of Colbond and Geo-Tipptex has doubled the size and strengthened the strategic position
of the Technical Textiles Division.

• Floors Division operating profit increased by 20.2% to £10.7m (2005: £8.9m).

• Technical Textiles Division operating profit before amortisation and non-recurring items increased by
23.0% to £9.1m (2005: £7.4m), despite £5m raw material and energy price increases.
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Chairman’s Statement

Non-recurring items of £2.5m (2005: £9.3m) were incurred in the
year, being redundancy and restructuring costs within the existing
specialist yarns and construction fibres businesses and
redundancies within the recently acquired Colbond business, as
well as aborted transaction costs in regard to the bid approach in
the first half of the year. The total for 2005 included the £8.5m fine
imposed by the EU. We have appealed against the EU verdict, but
a decision on the appeal is not expected within the short term.

Earnings per share (EPS) were 5.80p (2005: loss, 6.39p) on a
statutory basis. EPS before amortisation and non-recurring items
were 8.75p (2005: 9.50p). Both of the comparative figures have
been restated to take account of the bonus adjustment factor from
the rights issue completed in August, and announced with the
Colbond acquisition. Both earnings per share figures were higher
than normal in 2005 due to a lower than usual tax charge arising
from resolution of prior year items.

CASH FLOW
The rights issue in August 2006 raised £41.1m net of expenses, and
allowed us both to acquire Colbond and retain a strong balance
sheet to take advantage of future investment opportunities.

Cash inflow from operations was £15.6m. During the year we
invested £82.6m on acquisitions (including acquired debt) made a
one-off contribution to the pension fund (£6.0m) and paid the EU
fine (£8.5m) which together contributed to a closing net debt of
£46.1m compared with cash of £12.8m in the prior year.

Committed bank facilities of £175m have been arranged during the
year, with a geographically diverse group of high quality banks, led
by The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. Unutilised committed facilities
at the end of the period were in excess of £125m.

This acquisition brings a number of leading technical textile niche
market positions, diversifies our raw material purchase base, and
gives us important new capability to support organic growth.

Our Technical Textiles Division (previously known as Yarns &
Fabrics) has shown strong sales and profit growth despite a high
level of cost price inflation in polyethylene, polypropylene and
polyester — its primary raw materials.

Our Floors business has continued its momentum of recent years
and operating profit before amortisation of non-current assets, and
non-recurring items has increased markedly. It has succeeded in
improving margins whilst building still further a good base for
continued organic growth.

IFRS
These are the first full accounts published under IFRS. Our
preliminary restatement of last year’s figures was published on
16 June 2006. The principal differences outlined in that document
remain the key items, and where appropriate data for the year
ended 30 November 2005 has been restated.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Total revenue increased by 28.0% to £224.5m (2005: £175.4m)
reflecting the maiden sales contribution of the Colbond and Geo-
Tipptex businesses as well as organic growth.

Profit before tax, amortisation and non-recurring items increased by
20.5% to £14.7m from £12.2m last year.

I am pleased to report that 2006 has been another year of
continued progress and substantial growth, which included a step
change in the size and market position of the Group following the
purchase of Colbond.

Middle: Axminster carpet with Bonar
backing yarn.
Right: Bontec SG 36/40 woven textiles for
a pipeline project. Grijpskerk-Wurkum,
The Netherlands.

Duncan Clegg Chairman
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DIVIDENDS
The Board is recommending a final ordinary dividend of 2.80p
(2005: 2.64p, when adjusted for the bonus adjustment factor
relating to the rights issue) to shareholders on the register on
20 April 2007. This makes a total dividend for the year of 4.38p
(2005: 4.15p when adjusted for the bonus adjustment factor
relating to the rights issue).

Dividend cover is 2.0 times, calculated on an earnings before
amortisation and non-recurring items basis.

The payment of the dividend will be made on 16 May, subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the AGM on 9 May 2007.

BOARD CHANGES
I would like to welcome Kevin Higginson who was appointed to the
Board as Group Finance Director on 5 September 2006, replacing
Jon Kempster who left the Group on 28 February 2006. Caroline
Thomas occupied the post in the interim.

Folkert Blaisse and Martin Flower joined as non-executive Directors
on 1 January 2007, and Chris Davies retired from the Board on
31 December 2006. I would like to thank Chris for his significant
contribution in his time as a Director.

EMPLOYEES
I would like to thank our employees for their continued efforts and
enthusiasm throughout the year. I also welcome our new colleagues
who have joined the Group from Colbond and Geo-Tipptex. As we
continue on our growth path the skills and knowledge of our
employees will be a key factor in achieving our aims and we
actively encourage and require all staff to improve their skills.

“The Board believes we are
well positioned, in diverse
marketplaces and with a strong
balance sheet, to take advantage
of opportunities as they arise.”

OUTLOOK
Market conditions and the trading performance of our business in
the first two months of the year are in line with our expectations.
I am confident we have the financial and commercial base to
continue our recent record of significant growth both organically
and through acquisitions.

Raw material prices are not expected to change significantly during
2007. However, during 2008 increased capacity amongst suppliers
is expected to provide a downward pressure on prices.

Our focus remains on driving value creation for shareholders
through profitable cash generative growth, both from existing
businesses and new acquisitions. The Board believes we are well
positioned, in diverse marketplaces and with a strong balance
sheet, to take advantage of opportunities as they arise.

Duncan Clegg
Chairman
20 February 2007

Colback non-woven product mix
for use in Automotive and
Construction products.



Group Chief Executive’s Review of Operations

The Group’s statutory earnings per share (EPS) increased to 5.80p
from a loss of 6.39p. However, EPS before non-recurring items and
amortisation declined slightly from 9.50p to 8.75p. Last year, EPS
was higher than normal due to a lower than usual tax charge, arising
from the resolution of prior year issues. By way of illustration, if EPS
were calculated on the pre-tax, amortisation and non-recurring items
basis it would have increased by 17.1% to 12.38p (2005: 10.57p).

Our year end net debt position of £46.1m (2005: net cash of £12.8m)
reflects continued good operational cash flow as well as the spend on
the two acquisitions, a £6.0m pensions contribution, payment (subject
to appeal) of the £8.5m EU fine and a delayed 2005 dividend.

To sustain this progress, we continue to invest in the development
of our people, the upgrading of our operational capacity and the
continued improvement of our health and safety environment.

ACQUISITION ACTIVITY
We made two significant acquisitions in 2006, both increasing our
presence in the Technical Textiles market. In March 2006 we
announced the acquisition of Geo-Tipptex, extending our activities
in non-woven textiles for the civil engineering market. Based in
Hungary, its addition to the Group consolidates our position as one
of the leading suppliers of technical textile products for the civil
engineering market in Europe, as well as enhancing our position
further afield. At the end of July we acquired Colbond, with
production facilities in the Netherlands, Germany and North
America. Colbond is a major supplier of non-woven textiles for the
flooring, automotive and construction markets, as well as of three-
dimensional polymeric mats used in specialist applications for
industries including civil engineering, construction and general
manufacturing. As well as complementing some of our existing
product offerings, Colbond brings high quality product
development capabilities and a number of new leading market
positions in technical textile niche markets. It has also created a
material increase in scale, doubling the size of our technical textile
activities. In addition to the above, during April we increased the
stake in our Chinese business, Yihua Bonar, to 60.0%.

It is our intention to continue to pursue strategically and financially
attractive acquisitions in both the Group’s legs. We have the financial
and strategic capacity to do so and, perhaps most importantly, the
management capability to absorb and add value to new additions.

EMPLOYEES
Last year I thanked all members of the Group for coping with a year
of very significant change. If anything, 2006 witnessed a period of
even greater change and, in very many parts of the Group, even
greater operational progress. I am deeply grateful to each and every
member of our team for their contribution to our continued
progress, and we as a Board remain equally committed to
continued investment in their personal development and right to
work in a supportive and safe environment.

Paul Forman
Group Chief Executive

OVERVIEW
2006 has seen the Group maintain the balance of driving growth in
sales and profits from its existing businesses whilst carrying out its
most significant level of acquisitions in many years. In addition, 2006
has witnessed a material reshaping of the shareholder base, a £41m
rights issue and a new £175m debt facility. All of these actions have
put the Group and its two chosen strategic legs — contract flooring
and technical textiles — in yet stronger shape and well poised for
further expansion. As has been the case over the recent few years, an
upward trend in polymer pricing has been a demanding backdrop.

Overall Group revenue increased by 28.0% to £224.5m (2005:
£175.4m). The flat aggregate year on year performance in Floors
masked the fact that higher margin sales of manufactured branded
products grew, whilst lower margin sales of third party products
declined, as anticipated. Important factors underlying this growth are
the continued improvement in our product development activity and
the sustained progress in customer service levels.

In our Technical Textiles activities we have seen sales grow by 63.7%
to £127.2m (2005: £77.7m). Excluding Geo-Tipptex and Colbond,
both of which were acquired in the course of this year, sales grew by
6.7% to £82.9m (2005: £77.7m). This represented a combination of
conspicuous progress from our global activities in woven and non-
woven textiles being offset by our grass activities, which felt the
impact of significantly increased competitive activity in price and
volume. It is pleasing to report that both recently acquired
businesses have performed at least in line with our expectations.
Currently, we are investing in additional capacity in many parts of
the Technical Textiles Division to support anticipated growth.

As a result of these actions Group operating profit before non-
recurring items and amortisation of non-current assets grew by 27.8%
from £13.3m to £17.0m. At a Divisional level, Floors grew by 20.2%
from £8.9m to £10.7m with product mix an important factor. Technical
Textiles increased by 23.0% from £7.4m to £9.1m, reflecting a slightly
higher than anticipated contribution from our acquisitions offset by
the issues already highlighted in our specialist yarns (grass) and also
of a year on year increase in raw material and energy costs of over
£5m. Continued tight control over central costs and interest expense
meant that Group profit before tax (before non-recurring items and
amortisation) grew by 20.5% to £14.7m (2005: £12.2m). Non-
recurring costs for the year totalled £2.5m, comprising redundancy
and other restructuring costs within existing specialist yarns and
construction fibres businesses, redundancies within the recently
acquired Colbond business and aborted deal costs from the bid
approach in the first half of the year.

Our Group continues to grow whilst focusing on its two core
activities. We are putting ever stronger foundations in place that
underpin our profitability and give us a good platform for
continued growth.

Paul Forman Group Chief Executive
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Top left: Flotex Berlin Beige for use in office environments.
Top right: ADFIL’s patented monofilament fibres used throughout the world’s construction sectors.
2nd row left: Colback used in automotive application.
2nd row middle: Flotex Montana for retail applications.
2nd row right: Colback during the tufting process.
Main image: Coral Active high performance entrance Matting — The Netherlands.
Bottom: Bontec NW18 non-woven geotextiles — Gosselies Airport, Belgium.

It is our intention to continue to
pursue strategically and financially
attractive acquisitions.



Divisional Review

Specialist contract flooring products and services provided by a global
sales and marketing organisation and six manufacturing sites in Europe.

Floors Division

Our strategy will remain that of
targeted organic growth focusing
on new product introductions,
selective geographic expansion and
class leading service levels.

Above: Tessera high performance textile
carpet tiles for commercial interiors.
Right: Flotex Alicante primarily used in the
French hospitality sector.
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The Floors Division continued the encouraging growth in sales of
its manufactured product ranges and also in its profitability in 2006.
No one major change has driven this improvement. The
restructuring and the increased investment in sales and marketing
spend in 2005, increased new product development, continued
productivity improvements in our manufacturing operations, more
focus on purchasing through its centralisation and increased service
levels to customers all contributed to growth in sales and profit. 

Divisional turnover remained flat year on year at £97.3m (2005:
£97.7m). The apparent flat sales trend year on year marks the
decline in Ministry of Defence (MOD) third party sales that had
been anticipated at the start of the contract being offset by growth
in the sales of higher margin manufactured products. 

Divisional operating profit before non-recurring items and
amortisation of non-current assets grew by 20.2% from £8.9m to
£10.7m, with operating margins increased from 9.1% to 11.0%
representing progress from the levels experienced in the first half
of 2005. Return on net operating assets grew to 27% (2005: 23%).

Commercially, 2006 has seen Floors progress on many fronts. The
pace of new product introductions has been increased further from
2005. All manufactured product brands increased their year on year
sales into the contract market. The Tessera carpet tile business,
underpinned by excellent service levels and a number of new
product launches, grew very successfully in its core UK market and
has now been introduced into France. Flotex delivered solid sales
growth in its core contract markets, offset by particular issues in
less strategically important markets. Our entrance system brands,
Nuway and Coral, enjoyed a positive year with good progress in
the retail and transport segments especially. The growth of our
entrance system business also reflects the successful integration of
the Threshold business acquired during 2005: of particular note
was a sole supplier contract with Marks & Spencer.

In addition, we have seen progress from improvements in our
approach to serving specific geographic markets, with an evolution
of our channel strategy delivering pleasing results in the
Netherlands and France. The MOD contract continues to perform
well with sales for the year as a whole again ahead of expectations,
albeit this was primarily due to a very strong first half and a second
half that was affected by the effective moratorium on certain types
of MOD spending. Across the Division, the quality of our service
and products has again enabled us to mitigate, through price rises,
the negative impact of cost inflation in raw materials.

Operationally, there was encouraging evidence of continued
improvement across all our manufacturing sites. Major highlights
include the customer service performance of our Tessera carpet
tiles facility where a ship to schedule rate of over 99% was
achieved throughout the second half, and Tessera Direct, a
marketing programme based on guaranteed availability, which
continues to be warmly received by our customers. The Nuway
plant has successfully coped with volumes more than 20% up year
on year.

In France we have been highly successful at progressing a new
technology platform, digitally printed Flotex, whilst maintaining
excellent cost control and service levels. I am also pleased to report
that our UK Flotex plant saw encouraging operational progress in
the latter part of the year. Our productivity is moving in the right
direction across all manufacturing sites. This operational progress
across the Division, allied to good cost control and a positive move
in product mix, has ensured that operating margins moved forward
encouragingly in 2006.

Our strategy will remain that of targeted organic growth focusing
on new product introductions, selective geographic expansion and
class leading service levels. We will continue to take advantage of
the opportunities to sell multiple products through our well-
established sales channels. The increasing stability of the
operational platform provides a strong set of foundations for our
growth strategy. Additional investments will also be made to help
drive continued product innovation and operational productivity. As
has been our approach for some time, we will continue to assess
strategically valuable acquisition opportunities that build on the
encouraging progress to date.



Divisional Review

The design, production and marketing of technical textiles — yarns,
fibres and woven and non-woven textiles — for a wide range of niche
industrial applications served from eight production facilities in Europe,
one in North America and one in the People’s Republic of China.

Technical Textiles Division

Colbond, acquired in July 2006,
doubled the scale of our technical
textile activities and gives the new
Division a much stronger platform
for product development

Above: Bontec NW23 non-woven textiles —
Bierset Airport, Belgium.
Right: Carpet backing Yarn production.



08/09
Low & Bonar Annual Report 2006

2006 has proved to be a significant year for the former Yarns &
Fabrics Division. Two acquisitions have been made, including the
purchase of Colbond, a company as large as the original Yarns &
Fabrics Division itself. These acquisitions are to be incorporated in
a new enlarged division, Technical Textiles. Additionally, a new
management structure has been put in place to ensure we optimise
the strategic and commercial synergy benefits of the various
businesses in the portfolio. All our businesses based in Europe and
North America now report as a single organisation. Our specialist
yarn businesses are now being managed together, and the
manufacturing activities and overall management of our
construction fibres business have been successfully relocated to
Belgium. Steps have been taken to ensure that close co-ordination
now exists in those businesses that serve the civil engineering
market where we have a leading European market position. In
addition, we have a separate management team tasked with
developing our Asian activities in technical textiles as well as
providing management capacity for new acquisitions.

Including part year contributions from Geo-Tipptex and Colbond,
Divisional sales grew by 63.7% to £127.2m (2005: £77.7m) and
operating profit before non-recurring items and amortisation of
non-current assets grew by 23% to £9.1m (2005: £7.4m). The
impact of the first time contributions were offset by an estimated
£5m increase in raw material and energy costs and difficult trading
conditions in specialist yarns. Return on net operating assets
decreased from 14% to 6% but the primary reason for this was the
inclusion of the full asset value of Colbond but only four months’
profit contribution. The acquisition of Geo-Tipptex and Colbond
have been strategically positive steps and both have performed
ahead of our expectations. 

The non-recurring reorganisation costs incurred in our specialist
yarns business reflect our decision to rebalance product capacities
in response to a rapidly changing market structure. 

The woven textile, non-woven textile and fibre businesses have
grown aggregate sales and profit. This constitutes a very
commendable performance in the demanding raw material pricing
environment. Our Belgian operations continued to increase
margins, grow market share in their key product segments and
have additionally extracted record levels of output in construction
fibres since the transfer of manufacturing early in the year. Our
Chinese business, in which we now hold a 60.0% interest,
commenced manufacture of artificial grass yarn for the high-growth
domestic market, continued to set the industry quality standards in
domestic geotextiles and carpet backing, and enhanced its
productivity further. Additional capacity investment is being made
to ensure its strong growth trajectory continues. Whilst finding it
challenging in a highly competitive market to offset its increased

polypropylene costs with sales price growth, our construction fibres
business has increased its new product initiatives and is well set for
renewed growth. Geo-Tipptex has successfully augmented our
position in the European geotextiles market and a new non-woven
line is planned to be installed in the first half of 2007 to support
the continuation of the strong growth achieved in this market over
the last two years.

Our specialist yarns business, comprising monofilament and
fibrillated grass, and carpet yarns, performed in aggregate below
last year and our expectations. The overall market environment for
the supply of artificial grass remains positive, with independent
research predicting global growth rates of over 10% per annum.
This is driven not only by the increasing popularity of artificial
sports surfaces, but by the growth of artificial turf for landscaping
applications. Nevertheless, the combination of markedly increased
polyethylene raw material costs, a highly competitive environment
depressing selling prices, and a major move amongst specific
customers to monofilament grass were all factors that impacted
fibrillated yarn volumes, ensured significant pressure on gross
margins, and necessitated the rebalancing of production capacities
between various product types. Actions have been taken to
address these issues with a non-recurring cost in 2006 to reduce
the workforce by 30 people, and a further worsening of the
competitive environment is not envisaged in 2007.

Colbond, acquired in July 2006, doubled the scale of our technical
textile activities and gives the new Division a much stronger
platform for product development and hence innovation led
growth, the core of our strategy for this Division. As well as adding
to our product range for civil engineering markets it has brought a
number of leading market positions in new non-woven markets and
diversified the Group’s raw material base. The integration plan, like
underlying performance, is proceeding well. Significant capital
investments are already under way to provide operational
efficiencies in 2007 and 2008. Financially, Colbond has benefited
from a less aggressive cost trend in its core raw material, polyester,
than those experienced in polypropylene and polyethylene, and
from encouraging levels of sales growth in speciality backings for
flooring and niche construction products especially. I am also very
encouraged by the way that it has positively and constructively
engaged with the rest of the Group in an effort to both give and
receive whatever shared value is available.

2007 will see the continuation of the strategy for technical textiles,
namely a focus on industrial rather than consumer end-markets, an
emphasis on innovation as a means of higher value-added and
market share gain, and a drive to maximise the synergies across the
Division. Strategically attractive acquisitions will continue to be
pursued on a global basis.

Above left: ADFIL’s Construction fibres for use in concrete to reduce the effects of Spalling in the event of fire.
Above centre: Enka-Fusion flow medium for resin transfer moulding.
Above right: Bonar Yarns at Hamilton AFC Scotland.



Group Finance Director’s Review

The tax rates payable in the principal countries where we operate
are as follows:
UK 30.0%
Germany 38.5%
The Netherlands 29.6%
France 33.3%
United States 40.0%
Belgium 34.0%

EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS 
Basic earnings per share were 5.80p compared with a loss of 6.39p
for 2005 reflecting the impact of large non-recurring items last year.

On an earnings per share measure calculated using profit before non-
recurring items and amortisation of non-current cash assets our EPS has
fallen only slightly, to 8.75p from 9.50p. The acquisition of Colbond is
expected to be earnings accretive in the first full year of ownership. 

The comparative has been adjusted to reflect the bonus element of
the rights issue. An ordinary dividend of 2.80p is being
recommended by the Board making a total of 4.38p for the year.
This compares with 4.15p in 2005 after adjustment for the bonus
adjustment factor (5.00p before bonus adjustment factor). This
represents an increase of 5.5%.

The dividend is covered 2.0 times, on an earnings before
amortisation and non-recurring items basis.

The final dividend will be paid, if approved by shareholders at the
AGM, on 16 May 2007 to shareholders on the register at 
20 April 2007. 

Preference dividends of £34,500 (2005: £11,500) were paid in 
the year. 

SHARE CAPITAL AND RIGHTS ISSUE
In order to provide a strong capital structure for the Group
subsequent to the acquisition of Colbond we raised £43.1m
(£41.1m net of expenses) by way of a 1 for 2 rights issue at a price
of 85p per share. This involved the issue of 51.0m new shares. 

Our total share capital is 152.9m shares in issue as at 16 February
2007, the latest practicable date prior to the issue of these
accounts. The average number of shares in issue during the year
was 115.5m. 

During the year to November 2006 we conformed with the requirement to
adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for the first time.
Consequently, all figures in this report (including a restatement of the
comparatives for 2005, where appropriate) are in IFRS compliant format.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Many figures within the Income Statement, Balance Sheet and Cash
Flow are significantly impacted by the acquisition of Geo-Tipptex
announced in March 2006 and Colbond in July 2006. 

The key highlights of the year are:
£m (unless stated) 2006 2005

Revenue 224.5 175.4 28.0%
Profit before non-recurring items and
amortisation of non-current assets 14.7 12.2 20.5%
Net (debt)/cash (46.1) 12.8
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
(p per share) 5.80 (6.39)
Earnings per share before non-recurring
items and amortisation of non-current
assets (p per share) 8.75 9.51

IMPACT OF IFRS
The impact of the first time adoption of IFRS was not particularly
significant for Low & Bonar. 

The impact on our Income Statement was small and the largest
single effect upon the Balance Sheet was to increase net assets by
£2.2m as a result of no longer providing for the final dividend under
IFRS. Further detail on the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS can be
found in note 35 of the financial statements on pages 77 to 82.

The ongoing principal differences from UK GAAP are:

• No requirement to amortise goodwill

• No requirement to recycle goodwill previously written off 
to reserves under UK GAAP through the Income Statement 
on disposal 

• Recognition of deferred tax liabilities on a different basis

• Inclusion of a fair value charge in relation to employee 
share awards

• Recognition of all employee benefit related assets and
obligations, principally pensions

• Requirement to recognise dividends at the period in which
they are declared. 

TAXATION
The taxation charge was £2.7m on profit before tax (2005: £0.9m).
The effective rate on profit before non-recurring items and
amortisation was 28.6% up from 9.8% in 2005, as a result of one-off
prior year credits falling available last year. 

Middle: Lisport test for artificial turf, in
Bonar Yarns — Dundee.
Right: Chocflex high performance acoustic
vinyl flooring for heavy traffic locations.

Kevin Higginson Group Finance Director
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SHARE PRICE
The share price had returned highs of 139.0p and lows of 101.7p.
The share price at 30 November 2006 was 127.5p (2005: 109.1p as
adjusted for the bonus factor relating to the rights issue). 

The primary objective of the Board remains the enhancement of
shareholder value through profitable, cash generative growth. 

The market capitalisation of the Group at 30 November 2006 was
£195.4m (2005: £124.3m).

PENSIONS
The pension deficit under IAS 19 decreased from £28.9m in 2005
to £19.8m in 2006 principally as a result of investment performance
and a cash injection of £6.0m in December 2005, offset by an
acquired deficit of £3.8m in Colbond schemes.

CASH FLOW AND NET DEBT
Net debt at the year end was £46.1m, after the rights issue made
to improve balance sheet efficiency. The total cost of the
acquisitions of Colbond and Geo-Tipptex was £82.6m. In addition,
significant payments included the EU fine £8.5m, and additional
pension contributions of £6.0m.

BANK FACILITIES
In order to be able to fund the acquisition of Colbond without it
being dependent upon the rights issue, the Company replaced its
bilateral borrowing facilities totalling £67.5m with a £140m facility
provided by The Royal Bank of Scotland plc. During October 2006,
this debt was resyndicated to a group of 10 high quality banks
which support Low & Bonar. Due to the appetite for the Group’s
debt, a decision was taken at this time to increase the debt facility
to a total of £175m; £27m of this is an amortising term loan, the
remainder a revolving facility. The final maturity of the facility is in
December 2011, and it is unsecured. Further details on the facilities
may be found in note 19 on page 60. Consequently, our undrawn
committed facilities at 30 November 2006 were in excess 
of £125m.

TREASURY
The objective of the treasury operations is the
management of financial risk at optimal cost. The
department manages the relationships with the Group’s
key external debt providers centrally. Acting as a cost
centre, it operates within a range of Board approved
policies, using conventional financial instruments and
specified derivatives. No transactions of a speculative
nature are permitted. 

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group finances its operations from shareholders’ funds and
borrowing facilities. The objective is to maintain the constant
availability of an appropriate amount of reasonably priced funding
for the Group’s operational and strategic needs for the foreseeable
future. Policy is to aim to maintain committed facilities to a
minimum of 110% of peak gross debt requirements. 

Whilst the Group maintains uncommitted facilities to maintain
short-term flexibility, its principal debt funding comprises
committed bank facilities, details of which may be found above. 

INTEREST RATE RISK
The acquisition of Colbond introduced a level of gearing to the
Group, which is expected to remain. Consequently, the Board
reviewed its policy for the management of interest rate risk and
determined that a proportion of core debt should be subject to
protection against higher interest rates. The proportion is subject
to review at the time of the annual budget setting and subsequent
to year end, the Group has purchased interest rate caps to mitigate
the impact of potential increases in interest rates. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
The Group has net assets outside of the UK, predominantly within
the euro zone. To mitigate the fluctuation in the value of these
assets when translated into sterling, our policy is to hedge the net
assets using a mixture of debt and foreign exchange swaps.

There is limited transactional exposure within the Group, and where
exposures are regarded as highly probable, they are hedged.

Kevin Higginson
Group Finance Director

Right: Bonar Technical fabrics
Darkening screen for greenhouse —
Naaldwijk, The Netherlands.
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Appointed as a Director and Group Finance Director on 
5 September 2006. A Chartered Accountant, he was previously
Group Finance Director of The BSS Group PLC. Prior to his role at
BSS, he held various senior positions, including Group Chief
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Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.
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Top left: Duncan Clegg Chairman
Top centre: Paul Forman Group Chief Executive
Top right: Kevin Higginson Group Finance Director

Bottom left: Steve Hannam Senior Independent Non-executive Director
Bottom left centre: Chris Littmoden Non-executive Director
Bottom right centre: Folkert Blaisse Non-executive Director
Bottom right: Martin Flower Non-executive Director
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report and the accounts of the Company and the Group for the year ended 30 November 2006.

Principal activities The Report of the Directors should be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s
Review, the Divisional Review and the Financial Review, which contain details of the principal activities of the Group during the year and
an indication of likely future developments.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is required to set out in this report a fair review of the business of the Group during the financial year ended 30 November
2006 and of the position of the Group at the end of that financial year and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group (known as a ‘Business Review’). The information that fulfils the requirements of the Business Review can be found in the Group
Chief Executive’s Review on pages 4 and 5, the Financial Review on pages 10 and 11 and on pages 17 to 19 of the report on the Group’s
management of risk, health and safety and the environment.

Results and dividends The Group’s consolidated profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company was £6.7m 
(2005: loss, £7.2m).

The Directors recommend that a final dividend of 2.80p per share (2005: 2.64p*) be paid on 16 May 2007 to ordinary shareholders whose
names appear in the register at close of business on 20 April 2007. 

The final dividend together with the interim dividend of 1.58p* per share (2005: 1.51p*) already paid will make a total dividend on the
ordinary shares of 4.38p (2005: 4.15p*) for the year. The total dividend payable to shareholders is estimated to be £6.1m.

Dividends adjusted for the effects of the Rights Issue
Originally declared/ Adjusted for the

proposed Rights Issue

Interim 2005 1.70 1.51
Final 2005 3.00 2.64
Total 2005 4.70 4.15

Interim 2006 1.80 1.58
Final 2006 2.80 2.80
Total 2006 4.60 4.38

* Restated for the effects of the Rights Issue.

DIRECTORS
The present Directors of the Company are shown on page 12; with the exception of Messrs Higginson, Blaisse and Flower, they all held
office throughout the financial year under review.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Mr Higginson was appointed as a Director and as Group Finance Director on 5 September 2006, and in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association, will retire at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 9 May 2007 and, being eligible, will offer
himself for election. Messrs Blaisse and Flower were appointed as Directors on 1 January 2007 for an initial period of three years and, in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, will retire at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for election. Mr Kempster resigned as a Director and Group Finance Director on 28 February 2006. Mr
Davies retired as a Director on 31 December 2006.

Mr Clegg retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for reappointment. Mr Clegg was appointed as Chairman of the Company
on 1 June 2001 and has been a non-executive Director since February 1994. Mr Clegg’s appointment as Chairman may be terminated by
either him or the Company giving six months’ notice in writing.

Of the Directors proposed for re-election, Mr Higginson has a service contract with the Company that is terminable by the Company
giving him not less than 12 months’ notice in writing or by Mr Higginson giving the Company not less than six months’ notice in writing. 
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Mr Clegg has a service agreement with the Company in respect of his appointment as Chairman, which appointment may be terminated
by either him or the Company giving six months’ notice in writing.

Messrs Blaisse and Flower have letters of appointment with the Company. Their appointment may be terminated by either the Director or
the Company giving six months’ notice in writing.

Directors’ interests in shares and debentures of the Company are shown on page 32.

Substantial interests At the date of this report, the Company’s share register of substantial shareholdings showed the following interests
in 3 per cent or more of the Company’s issued ordinary shares:

Shares %

Schroder Investment Management Ltd and subsidiary and affiliated companies 18,299,271 11.94
Aberforth Partners LLP 17,412,000 11.36
BriTel Fund Trustees Limited for Trustees of BT Pension Scheme(2) 10,759,052 7.02
JO Hambro Capital Management 10,563,931 6.89
Hermes Focus Asset Management Limited 9,218,515 6.01
Devon County Council(1) 9,218,515 6.01
Essex County Council(1) 9,218,515 6.01
Royal Mail Pensions Trustees Limited(1) 9,218,515 6.01

(1) Devon County Council, Essex County Council and Royal Mail Pensions Trustees Limited are limited partners in the Hermes UK Small
Companies Focus Fund. The interest of the Hermes UK Small Companies Focus Fund is part of the interest of JO Hambro Capital
Management detailed above.

(2) The indirect interest of BriTel Fund Trustees Limited in Hermes UK Small Companies Focus Fund of 9,218,515 shares is included in the 
holding detailed above.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s authorised and issued share capital at 30 November 2006 and of options granted and shares issued pursuant to
the Company’s employee share option schemes and long term incentive plans are shown in note 23 to the accounts.

RIGHTS ISSUE
A total of 50,952,213 new ordinary 25 pence shares were allotted on 17 August 2006 at 85 pence per ordinary share in respect of the 1
for 2 rights issue announced by the Company on 7 July 2006.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The annual general meeting will be held at The Cumberland Hotel, Great Cumberland Place, London W1A 4RF on Wednesday 9 May
2007 commencing at 1 p.m. The notice of meeting is contained in the separate booklet which is enclosed. The booklet contains the text
of the resolutions to be proposed and explanatory notes concerning the proposals to authorise the Directors to allot relevant securities
and to allot equities for cash other than on a pre-emptive basis. A resolution will also be proposed to authorise the Company to purchase
its own shares, as and if thought appropriate. Resolutions will also be proposed to increase the ceiling of the ordinary annual remuneration
of non-executive Directors from £35,000 to £45,000 and to renew the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme and introduce a similar
savings-related share option scheme for employees in the main countries in which the group operates.

Going concern Having reviewed the medium-term forecasts and compared the cash flow with the available bank facilities the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason,
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

Employment of Disabled Persons It is the policy of the Group to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment by Group
companies received from disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities; and wherever possible to continue the
employment of, and to arrange appropriate training for, employees who have become disabled persons during the period of their
employment by a Group company. Group companies provide the same opportunities for training, career development and promotion for
disabled as for other employees.

Employee Involvement The Group’s overall policy is to keep employees informed on matters of concern to them and to encourage
employee involvement. This policy is implemented in a wide variety of ways, which are reported on by the Group’s businesses. These
include the regular publication of a Company newsletter, ‘Your Low & Bonar’ which is translated into the main languages of our employees
at least twice a year, and regular meetings with employees’ representatives. 



Report of the Directors continued

Payment of Suppliers The Company’s policy and practice is to pay agreed invoices in accordance with the terms of payment agreed with
suppliers at the time orders are placed. As the Company is a holding company it has no trade creditors.

Charitable and Political Contributions The Company has made a donation of £15,000 to the Low & Bonar Charitable Trust (2005:
£15,000). The Trust is independent from the Company. The Directors adhered to their policy of making no contributions to any 
political party.

Information to Auditor The Directors who held office at the date of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware,
there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and each Director has taken all steps that he ought to
have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware
of that information.

Auditor KPMG Audit Plc have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditors and a resolution to reappoint them will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

By order of the Board
Amanda Whalley
Company Secretary
20 February 2007
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Report on the Group’s management of risk,
health and safety and the environment

THE COMPANY’S APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT:
Every business faces a variety of risks which may compromise its performance and its ability to meet its strategic objectives.

The Board is ultimately responsible for identifying and managing these risks. Management of key risks, health and safety and the
environment remains a key item on the Board agenda. Management of various categories of risks also forms an integral part of the
activities of the Group Executive Management and the Group Risk Management Committee (the “RMC”) who report to the Board via the
Group Chief Executive and the Audit Committee respectively. 

The Board identifies, evaluates and reviews key Group risks that could have a material adverse effect on the Group relating to issues
concerning the Group’s portfolio strategy and its level of gearing. The Board also monitors and reviews the investment performance and
funding level of the Company’s defined benefit schemes. 

The Group Executive Management consists of the Group Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the two Divisional Managing
Directors and the Director of New Business. The Group Executive Management meets on a regular basis and identifies, evaluates and
monitors risks relating to, amongst others, financial deliverability and control, raw materials and failure to deliver the anticipated benefits
on high capital expenditure projects. 

The RMC reviews and monitors Group risks, principally relating to health and safety issues, legal and operational compliance, supply
continuity, employee related issues and product liability. The RMC also seeks to focus and co-ordinate operational risk management
activities throughout the Group. 

The RMC was established by the Board in 2000 and comprises the Group Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the Divisional
Managing Director of both Floors and Technical Textiles, the Director of New Business, the Group Internal Auditor, the Group Risk
Manager and three Senior Operations Managers representing all businesses and the Group Company Secretary. The RMC meets on a
regular basis and at least four times a year.

Throughout the year the Group has focused on controlling both existing risks and identifying new risks both in existing operations and in
the newly acquired businesses. During the year the RMC completed a major review of the standards and expectations covering all
significant aspects of risk identification and control which has culminated in a new risk manual being produced and circulated throughout
the Group. The Group Risk Manual contains the Group’s policies regarding risk and health and safety issues detailing specific expectations
and agreed good practices.

MANAGEMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
One of the main objectives of the Group’s environmental policy is to ensure that our manufacturing operations worldwide are managed
responsibly, in materially full compliance with all relevant laws and regulations, and that environmental damage or nuisance does not occur
as a result of our activities. The Group continually reviews and evaluates its processes and practices and, where possible, takes action to
reduce any potential impact of its operations on the environment. As a consequence of this ongoing programme of evaluation, the
following action has been taken.

• A full environmental self-auditing programme was completed by all of the Group’s operations in 2005. Although no material issues
were identified from the environmental self-auditing programme, an action plan was prepared based on the responses. The
environmental self-auditing programme is now included as a policy document in the Group Risk Manual. The self audit will be modified
on a regular basis to ensure that continuous progression of standards is maintained and that emerging issues are fully addressed.

• The Group has undertaken and completed a review to identify asbestos within all of its locations. In some of the Group’s locations this
has resulted in the controlled removal of asbestos containing material deemed to be in an unsuitable condition for leaving in situ.

• Recycling programmes for both process and general waste are actively encouraged throughout the Group to maximise the efficient use
of raw material. Our Floors operations at Ripely, Telford and Chateau Renault have substantially increased the recycling capabilities of
their in-process waste systems thereby reducing not only waste to landfill but their use of virgin raw materials. The Group remains a
member of the Valpak packaging scheme for its UK subsidiaries, and fully meets the requirement of the packaging waste obligations.

• We are continuing to assess the use of hazardous substances with the aim of replacing these with safer alternatives where appropriate. 

• Colbond has launched a unique non-woven backing for the carpet manufacturing industry, Colback SMR, made of 100% post-consumer
recycled polyester (PET). The PET, former bottle scrap, is sourced locally to the factory in order to reduce the environmental impact of
transport.



Report on the Group’s management of risk,
health and safety and the environment continued

The Group’s disaster contingency plans, which include the effective control of any potential environmental incidents, are reviewed and
updated on a regular basis.

The Group retains, from the sale of its North American packaging operations in 2000, some responsibility for the remediation of known
environmental contamination in the vicinity of one of the facilities in Burlington, Ontario. Further details are provided in note 32 to the
accounts.

As stated in previous reports, the Group agreed remedial action with local environmental authorities in respect of historical gas oil
pollution of the soil and groundwater at its site in Lokeren, Belgium. The contamination resulted from leakage from large gas oil tanks that
were removed from the site prior to its acquisition by the Group in 1996. The cleaning programme agreed with the authorities was
successfully completed in April 2006 and management was sent the final full report by the authorities in October 2006. The final sign-off
from the authorities that all pollution has now been successfully remediated is currently expected to be received by the end of April 2007. 

Investigation of the environmental controls of businesses continues to be a part of the due diligence process of all potential acquisitions
with surveys being conducted at an early stage in the assimilation of acquisitions to ensure the Group’s high expectations are met.
Detailed environmental due diligence was undertaken prior to the acquisitions of Geo-Tipptex and Colbond. Colbond actively supports
the Responsible Care® program.

The Group considers environmental aspects when developing new products. The environmental properties of products we manufacture
will be considered at each stage of the introduction and manufacture of new products.

MANAGEMENT OF HEALTH AND SAFETY
The health and safety of our employees and others who may be affected by Group operations forms an integral part of line management
responsibility. In each location nominated personnel are identified to ensure that health and safety issues are given proper attention. The
communication of health and safety matters with our employees remains key to ensuring that standards continue to improve within the
Group. Management recognises the need to embed a health and safety culture across the Group.

The Board and the RMC review and monitor detailed statistical performance from individual sites detailing any accidents and incidents to
identify trends and focus on areas where improvements are required. In some cases this review has lead to an in-depth health and safety
audit at specific sites involving on-site management and external specialists. Where appropriate action plans were developed during the
year from these audits which have already resulted in improvements to accident rates and risk control performance. It is the intention that
these audits will be extended throughout 2007 to all operating sites. Details of accidents and incidents are communicated between
locations as appropriate in order that preventative action can be taken. 

We have also focused specifically on improving health and safety performance at Ostend, our Bonar Xirion facility, acquired in 2005, with
the assistance of external specialists and we have invested in achieving improvements.

Over one hundred employees in our Floors UK businesses have now attended a nationally approved training course on health and safety.
The Floors Division has reviewed its occupational health arrangements for its UK businesses and during the year introduced a service for
its employees which not only includes assistance for employees with any work related issues but also extends to stress management and
counselling, whether related to work issues or to other external factors. During the year, our Bonar Yarns & Fabrics business in Dundee
introduced smoking controls in advance of the Scottish ban on smoking in enclosed public spaces. Our Bonar Technical Fabrics sites in
Belgium at Zele and Lokeren have also introduced a ban on smoking.
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Other actions taken by our business during the year were:

• Assessments on the potential risks of dangerous substances and explosive atmospheres continued in order to meet the new
regulations introduced under DSEAR (UK) and ATEX (European). In Floors the potential explosion risk of the flocking process used
during the manufacturing of Flotex was tested using external resources, proving that the flock is outside the scope of the regulations.
This assessment process will be ongoing during 2007.

• Fire risk assessments were conducted at all our UK sites in order to meet the new fire regulations which has resulted in some
procedural changes although no physical structural changes were required in order to comply with the regulations.

• Detailed risk audits, using the sections of the new Group Risk Manual, have commenced at our sites in Ostend, Lokeren and Ripley.
These audits will assist management in setting new targets for improvement for the following year.

• A capital expenditure proposal has been approved for Bonar Floors, France to install a system during 2007 at is facility in Chateau-
Renault to eliminate volatile organic compounds and fumes that are produced during some of the manufacturing processes. The
installation of this system will ensure that the site is in full compliance with the French atmospheric emissions regulations introduced
from European directives 84/360/EC (struggle against atmospheric pollution) and 2004/42/EC (reduction of VOC emissions) and their
subsequent modifications which become legally mandatory during 2007.

Risk management and health and safety issues are also reviewed by a rolling programme of visits by the Group Risk Manager. The Group
Risk Manager works closely with the Group’s insurance risk surveyors and the Group’s insurance brokers, Willis, and their
recommendations form part of the internal audit reviews. The insurers’ surveyors have visited all major sites with no additional action
being mandated by the surveyors. 

The Group values its partnership with its insurers’ risk specialist and its insurance brokers and works in partnership with them to develop
agreed steps for the continuing improvement of the potential risk controls.

Further information on how the Group manages risk is provided in the Internal Control section on pages 23 and 24.



Corporate Governance

This report explains how the Company complied with the provisions of the revised Combined Code on corporate governance issued by
the Financial Reporting Council in July 2003. The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and to
applying the Principles of Good Governance set out in the revised Combined Code. The Directors can confirm compliance throughout the
year with the revised Combined Code except in respect of one provision, namely, that the constitution of the Nomination Committee
does not comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors. Whilst the Nomination Committee, which comprises the Chairman,
the Senior Independent Non-executive Director and the Group Chief Executive, leads the process of Board appointments, the Chairman
will consult with all the Directors on a regular basis throughout the process. In the opinion of the Board, the constitution of the Committee
is therefore appropriate given the size of the Board and the process undertaken for Board appointments. Further detail of the
appointment process is provided in the section on the Nomination Committee below.

THE BOARD
The Group is controlled through its Board of Directors. The Board’s main objectives are to create value for shareholders, to approve the
Group’s strategic objectives and to ensure that the necessary financial and other resources are made available to enable them to meet
those objectives. The Board has a formal schedule of reserved powers, which it retains for Board decision-making on a range of key issues
including the formulation of Group strategy; the approval of the annual budget; the approval of reported financial statements and
dividends; the approval of acquisitions, divestments and significant items of capital expenditure; and changes to the Group’s risk
management strategy. 

THE ROLES OF THE CHAIRMAN AND GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The roles of the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive are separate and clearly defined. The Chairman is responsible for leading the
Board, facilitating the effective contribution of all members and ensuring that it operates effectively in the interests of shareholders. The
Group Chief Executive is responsible for leadership of the business and implementation of strategy. 

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ INDEPENDENCE
The Board currently comprises the Chairman, four independent non-executive Directors and two executive Directors. The names of the
Directors together with their biographical details are set out on pages 12 and 13. With the exception of Messrs Higginson, Blaisse and
Flower, all of the Directors served throughout the period under review.

Kevin Higginson was appointed as a Director and Group Finance Director on 5 September 2006. Folkert Blaisse and Martin Flower were
appointed as non-executive Directors of the Company on 1 January 2007. Jon Kempster resigned as a Director and as Group Finance
Director on 28 February 2006 and Chris Davies retired as a Director on 31 December 2006. Caroline Thomas acted as interim Group
Finance Director during the period 1 March 2006 to 4 September 2006.

A non-executive Director, Duncan Clegg, chairs the Board. The Group Chief Executive is Paul Forman and the Senior Independent Non-
executive Director is Steve Hannam. The independent non-executive Directors challenge constructively and help develop proposals on
strategy, and bring strong, independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the Board’s deliberations. The Board believes that an
effective balance of power and authority is maintained through the number and calibre of non-executive Directors. All Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary and there is an agreed procedure for Directors to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense. 

Details of Duncan Clegg’s professional commitments are included in the Chairman’s biography. The Board is satisfied that these are not
such as to interfere with the performance of the Chairman’s duties of the Group, which are based around a commitment of at least one
day and no more than two days per week.

The Chairman and the non-executive Directors are not employees of the Group. 

The Board considers that Steve Hannam, Chris Littmoden and Martin Flower, the non-executive Directors of the Company, are
independent in character and judgement. The Board also considers that Chris Davies, who retired as a Director on 31 December 2006,
was independent in character and judgement during his period as a Director. No non-executive Director:

• has been an employee of the Group within the last five years;
• has, or had within the last three years, a material business relationship with the Group;
• receives remuneration other than a Director’s fee;
• has close family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, Directors or senior employees;
• holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other Directors through involvement in other companies or bodies; 
• represents a significant shareholder; or
• has served on the Board for more than nine years. 

The Board has considered the independence of Folkert Blaisse and believes that he should also be considered as independent in
character and judgement although he was Chairman of Colbond between 2004 and 2006 until the business was acquired by Low & Bonar
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in July 2006. He is currently a Director of Acordis BV and was the Chief Executive Officer of this company during the period 1999 to 2006.
The Colbond businesses were part of the Acordis group and Acordis was divested by Akzo Nobel to CVC Capital Partners in December
1999. The Board considers that there are substantial benefits of having a non-executive Director who has significant international expertise
in the speciality materials market and is familiar with this business.

All Directors are required to offer themselves for re-election at least once every three years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE EVALUATION
The Board has adopted a policy of providing appropriate training for all new Directors who have not previously received such training. A
personal induction programme is provided for each new Director depending on the experience and needs of the individual. On
appointment, they receive information about the Group, the role of the Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of
reference and membership of the principal Board and management committees, and the powers delegated to those committees, and the
latest financial information about the Group. This is supplemented by visits to key locations and meetings with the Divisional Managing
Directors and other key senior executives. 

The Board has established a process, led by the Chairman, for the annual evaluation of the performance of the Board and its principal
committees. A list of questions is drawn up by the Chairman with the assistance of the Company Secretary. These questions provide a
framework for the evaluation process. During the year the Chairman held meetings with the non-executive Directors without the executive
Directors being present. The Senior Independent Non-executive Director conducts the annual performance evaluation of the Chairman,
taking into account the views of all directors. 

INFORMATION AND MEETINGS
The Board meets regularly to review the performance of the Company and to formulate strategy and is supplied in advance of each
meeting with an agenda and papers covering the financial and operating performance of the Group’s businesses and other matters to be
considered at the meeting. These papers are supplemented by information specifically requested by the Directors from time to time. The
Divisional Managing Directors attend the Board meetings on a regular basis to present to the Board on the performance of their Division.
The Board also receives presentations on a regular basis from the Group Head of Strategy and the Director of Management Development. 

The full Board met on nine occasions during 2006 and those meetings were attended by all the Directors, except that Chris Littmoden and
Steve Hannam were absent from one meeting due to prior commitments. One of these meetings was held at one of the Company’s
manufacturing facilities. These meetings concentrate on strategy, financial and business performance. Additional meetings were called
during the year to deal with specific matters.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee are the two principal committees of the Board. The Board also operates a
Nomination Committee. The terms of reference of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination committees are available on the Company’s
website on the following link www.lowandbonar.com/wb/csr/terms or on request from the Company Secretary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee currently comprises Steve Hannam, Chairman of the Committee, Chris Littmoden and Martin Flower. Martin 
Flower was appointed as a member of the Committee on 1 January 2007. Chris Davies retired as a member of the Committee on 
31 December 2006.

The Committee is made up entirely of independent non-executive Directors. The Committee collectively has the skills and experience
required to fully discharge its duties, and has access to independent advice at the Group’s expense. Chris Littmoden is considered by the
Board to have recent and relevant financial experience.

The Audit Committee, which is established with formal, written terms of reference, meets at least three times a year. The Audit Committee
is responsible for assisting the Board to discharge its duties with regard to the Group’s financial affairs, and for reviewing with the external
auditors the adequacy of the Group’s accounting and financial and operating controls. The Committee is responsible for monitoring and
controlling the effectiveness of the external audit process and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment and
reappointment of the external auditors. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate relationship between the Group and the external auditors is
maintained, including reviewing non-audit services and fees. It has developed and implemented a policy on the supply of non-audit
services by the external auditor to ensure their continued objectivity and independence. The Committee is satisfied that the provision by
KPMG Audit Plc of non-audit services currently provided does not impair their independence or objectivity. The Audit Committee has
approved the range of services that may be provided by KMPG Audit Plc. These include taxation compliance services, transaction due
diligence and accountancy assistance on projects. Subject to approved authorisation limits, the services require prior authorisation from
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either the Group Finance Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the full Audit Committee. The Committee is satisfied that the
majority of the tax services supplied by KPMG Audit Plc during the year were compliance related or related principally to foreign advisory
work that required a detailed understanding of the Group and which did not impair their independence. 

The Audit Committee met on four occasions during 2006 and those meetings were attended by all of the Committee members, save that
Mr Davies was unable to attend on one occasion due to a prior commitment. The meetings coincide with key dates in the financial
reporting and audit cycle. In addition, during the year the Audit Committee met to consider the restatement of financial information for
the year ended 30 November 2005 and the unaudited results for the six months ended 31 May 2005 prior to the Group’s adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and the Group Internal Auditor, who reports directly
to the Audit Committee, attend these meetings regularly. The Chairman, Group Chief Executive and Group Finance Director also
generally join at least part of Audit Committee meetings by invitation. The Audit Committee receives regular reports from the Group Risk
Manager who may also attend meetings by invitation. The Committee Chairman may call a meeting at the request of any member, the
Company’s external auditors or the Group Internal Auditor. The Audit Committee meets privately with the external auditors and the
Group Internal Auditor at least once a year.

In 2006 the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities by:

• reviewing the Group’s draft financial statements and interim results statement prior to Board approval and reviewing the external
auditors’ detailed reports thereon;

• reviewing the proposed International Accounting Standards and their impact;
• reviewing the restatement of the financial information of the Company prepared with International Accounting Standards and adopted

International Financial Reporting Standards for the six months ended 31 May 2005 and the year ended 30 November 2005 prior to
Board approval; 

• reviewing the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies;
• reviewing and approving the audit fee and reviewing non-audit fees payable to the Group’s external auditors;
• reviewing the external auditors’ plan for the audit of the Group’s accounts, which included key areas of extended scope work, key risks

on the accounts, confirmations of auditor independence and the proposed audit fee; 
• reviewing an annual report on the Group’s system of internal control and its effectiveness and reporting to the Board on the results of

the review;
• receiving regular reports from the Group Internal Auditor following operational audits; and
• reviewing regular reports of the Group Risk Manager.

The Audit Committee is entitled to obtain, at the expense of the Company, such external advice as it sees fit on any matters falling within
its terms of reference.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the following non-executive Directors of the Company, all of whom are considered by
the Board to be independent: Chris Littmoden (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee); Steve Hannam; and Folkert Blaisse. Chris
Littmoden was appointed as Chairman of the Committee on 31 December 2006 following the retirement of Chris Davies. Folkert Blaisse
was appointed as a member of the Committee on 1 January 2007.

The Remuneration Committee met on four occasions during 2006 and those meetings were attended by all of the Committee members,
save that Messrs Hannam and Littmoden were unable to attend on one occasion due to other commitments.

The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the Company’s broad policy for executive remuneration, including both
short-term and long-term incentive arrangements, and for reviewing, at least annually, the entire remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and certain other senior executives of the Company. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the Chairman’s
remuneration to the Board in compliance with the revised Combined Code. The Committee is entitled to obtain, at the expense of the
Company, such external advice as it sees fit on any matters falling within its terms of reference. The Directors’ Report on Remuneration for
2006 is on pages 25 to 33. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairman, the Group Chief Executive and Steve Hannam, the Senior Independent Non-
executive Director. The Nomination Committee met on two occasions during 2006 and those meetings were attended by all of the
Committee members. The constitution of the Nomination Committee does not comply with the revised Combined Code as it does not
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors. Whilst the Nomination Committee leads the process of Board appointments,
the Chairman will consult with all of the Directors on a regular basis throughout the process. All appointments are also subject to the
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review and approval of the full Board and all Directors will be invited to meet with a candidate before their appointment is recommended
to the Board. In the opinion of the Board, the constitution of the Committee is therefore appropriate given the size of the Board and the
process undertaken for Board appointments.

The Committee, which is established with formal written terms of reference, is responsible for recommending to the Board candidates for
appointment as both executive and non-executive Directors and for recommending to the Board all aspects of remuneration for non-
executive Directors. Appointments are discussed fully before a proposal is made to the Board. The selection criteria are agreed by the
Committee Chairman in conjunction with his colleagues. Use is made of independent recruitment consultants and the final appointment
rests with the full Board.

During the year the Nomination Committee identified and recommended to the Board the appointment of Kevin Higginson as Group
Finance Director and identified Folkert Blaisse and Martin Flower as candidates for appointment as non-executive Directors with the
relevant skills and experience which would strengthen the Board further. All of these appointments involved the use of external
recruitment consultants. This involved a process of identifying the skills and experience that the ideal candidates for the position required.
Following formal Board approval, Kevin Higginson was appointed as Group Finance Director on 5 September 2006 and Folkert Blaisse and
Martin Flower were appointed as non-executive Directors on 1 January 2007. 

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company maintains good communications with its shareholders through its interim and annual reports and through information
posted on its website at www.lowandbonar.com. The Company holds regular meetings throughout the year with major shareholders,
analysts and the financial press, in particular following the announcements of its interim and full year results. Visits for analysts and
shareholders are also arranged from time to time to operating units. In November 2006, the Company took a number of major
institutional shareholders to its newly acquired Colbond operation in Arnhem, Holland. The Company’s annual general meeting is used as
an opportunity to communicate with private investors. Shareholders attending the annual general meeting are invited to ask questions and
to meet with the Directors informally after the meeting. The Company also arranges a presentation on one of its businesses to
shareholders at the annual general meeting. Duncan Clegg, as Chairman of the Board and Nomination Committee, Steve Hannam as
Senior Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee, and Chris Littmoden as Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, will answer questions, as appropriate, at the annual general meeting. Shareholders are given the opportunity of voting
separately on each proposal. The numbers of proxy votes cast in respect of each resolution are announced after the resolution has been
voted on by a show of hands. Notice of the annual general meetings is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days prior to the date of
the meeting.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the systems of internal control within the Group. The purpose of these systems is to
provide reasonable assurance as to the reliability of financial information and to maintain proper control over the income, expenditure,
assets and liabilities of the Group. The Board has also reviewed in detail the areas of major risk that the Group faces in its operations. It
has noted and is satisfied with the current control mechanisms and reporting lines that have been in place throughout the year. However,
no system of control can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. In carrying out their review, the Directors have
regard to what controls in their judgement are appropriate to the Group’s businesses, to the materiality and the likelihood of the risks
inherent in these businesses, and to the relative costs and benefits of implementing specific controls.

The Group views the careful management of risk as a key management activity. Much of the Group’s work in the area of risk management
is facilitated by the Risk Management Committee, which is chaired by the Group Chief Executive and comprises the Group Finance
Director together with the Divisional Managing Directors, the Group Risk Manager, the Group Internal Auditor, the Group Company
Secretary and three Senior Operations Managers. The Risk Management Committee meets formally at least four times a year to review
and analyse how business risks are being managed. The Risk Management Committee operates under formal terms of reference
established by the Board of the Company and accords with Turnbull guidance. The Risk Management Committee initiates, directs,
delegates and oversees all risk management activities within the Group and provides the forum to investigate the effectiveness of current
control strategies and develop specific action plans for remedial work where it considers this to be necessary. The Risk Management
Committee is committed to continue to develop and embed risk management process within the Group and focuses on the risk
management process with the following objectives:

• to raise the level of management awareness and accountability for the business risks experienced by the Group;
• to develop risk management as part of the culture of the Group;
• to provide a mechanism for risk management issues to be discussed and disseminated to all areas of the Group; and
• to approve new Group-wide tools and techniques to assist in the management of risk.
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The Board receives reports on the work of the Risk Management Committee and reports from management on internal controls on a
regular basis. The Group Risk Manager reports to the Risk Management Committee and works closely with both Divisional Management
and the Head Office team. The Group Internal Auditor has a direct reporting line to the Audit Committee and attends Audit Committee
meetings by invitation. 

In addition to the risk review process and the internal audit function, the Group operates within an established internal financial control
framework, which can be described under three headings.

• Financial reporting. There is a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the Directors. Monthly actual
results are reported against budget and revised forecasts for the year are prepared regularly.

• Operating unit controls. Financial controls and procedures including information system controls are detailed in the Group Finance and
Accounting Manual. All operating units are required to confirm annually their compliance with policies and procedures set out in the
manual (including those relating to health, safety and the environment), local laws and regulations and report any control weaknesses
identified in the past year. Independent confirmation of compliance is obtained annually for selected operating units. 

• Investment appraisal. The Group has clearly defined guidelines for capital expenditure which are also set out in the Group Finance and
Accounting Manual. These include detailed appraisal and review procedures, levels of authority and post-completion audits. Where
businesses are being acquired, detailed due diligence is undertaken in advance of acquisition.

The Company is committed to ensuring that all employees comply with all anti-trust legislation. To ensure that relevant employees are
aware of the issues and receive the appropriate level of training and information, the Group, together with its legal advisers, Freshfields
Bruckhaus Deringer, has personalised an online anti-trust compliance training programme which all relevant personnel within the Group
will be required to complete on a regular basis.

The continued development and implementation of the risk management and internal control system across the Group has allowed the
directors to comply with the revised Combined Code provisions on internal control in the course of the financial year ended 
30 November 2006.
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Directors’ Report on Remuneration

The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) has adopted the principles of good governance relating to directors’ remuneration as set
out in the Combined Code. This report complies with the Companies Act 1985, amended by the Directors’ Remuneration Report
Regulations 2002 and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. These regulations require the Company’s auditors to report on
the ‘audited information’ within the report and to state if this section of the report has been properly prepared in accordance with the
regulations. This report has therefore been divided into separate sections for unaudited and audited information. The report has been
prepared on behalf of the Committee.

The report covers the remuneration policy for Directors and includes specific disclosures relating to Directors’ emoluments, their shares
and other interests. This remuneration report is being put to shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting for an advisory vote.
The vote will be in respect of the remuneration policy and overall remuneration packages and will not be specific to individual levels of
remuneration.

PART 1: UNAUDITED INFORMATION

1. THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Committee currently comprises the following non-executive Directors of the Company, Chris Littmoden, Chairman of the Committee
from 31/12/2006, Steve Hannam and Folkert Blaisse who was appointed as a member of the Committee on 1/1/2007. All of the
Committee members are considered by the Board to be independent. Chris Davis also served on the Committee during the year as its
Chairman until his retirement on 31/12/2006.

The Chairman, Duncan Clegg, is invited to attend meetings of the Committee other than when his own remuneration is under
consideration. The Group Chief Executive may be invited to attend meetings of the Committee. The Committee keeps itself informed of
all relevant developments and best practice in the field of remuneration and seeks advice where appropriate from external advisers.
During the year the Committee sought advice from New Bridge Street Consultants and Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer in particular in
relation to LTIP awards made to senior executives in August 2006. The Group Chief Executive and the Company Secretary also assist the
Committee, except in relation to their own remuneration. 

The Committee’s remit is set out in the terms of reference which are approved by the Board. A copy of the terms of reference is available
on the Company’s website. In 2006 the Committee recommended to the Board the broad policy for the remuneration of the Chairman,
the executive Directors and other senior executives. 

2. REMUNERATION POLICY
The Group’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration of executive Directors and senior executives properly reflects their
duties and responsibilities and is sufficient to recruit, retain and motivate high quality executive talent whilst aligning the interests of senior
executives as closely as possible with the interests of shareholders. The remuneration of the executive Directors has been structured to
provide a significant performance related element linked to the achievement of stretching performance targets. The Committee reviews its
policy for appropriateness on an ongoing basis. The main components of the remuneration of the executive Directors are as follows.

i) BASIC SALARY
When reviewing the base salaries of the executive Directors, the Committee considers the individual’s role and responsibilities,
performance, skills and experience. For guidance, the Committee consults professional advisers and may consider surveys produced by
professional consultants. Mr Forman received an annual basic salary of £270,000 during the year. His salary was reviewed by the
Committee in December 2006 and was increased to £295,000 with effect from 1/12/2006. The salary increase was awarded to reflect Mr
Forman’s continued outstanding performance and criticality to the business. Mr Higginson received an annual basic salary of £220,000
with effect from his date of appointment as a Director on 5/9/2006. Mr Higginson’s salary will be reviewed on 1/12/2007.

ii) SHORT-TERM BONUS
A bonus scheme was developed for executive Directors and senior executives in 2003 as part of a performance related reward structure
which was developed with the assistance of independent advisers Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer. The bonus scheme provides an annual
bonus up to 100% of basic salary provided that a combination of Divisional and Company performance targets are met. The bonus
scheme is part of a ‘performance contract’ under which these executives are rewarded for exceptional annual performance but under
which failure to meet targets on a sustained basis is likely to result in their notice period being shortened so that, in the event of
termination of their employment, the Company’s compensation costs would be substantially reduced. In most cases, this involves a halving
of their notice periods. This ‘performance contract’ adopts the principles in the Association of British Insurers in their guidelines on
executive remuneration.

The ‘performance contract’ was introduced by the Remuneration Committee following a period when the Company had experienced a
period of continuing profit decline, failing to meet its internal budget commitments and hence external expectations. The Company has
now successfully progressed through its recovery phase and has had several years of continued progress and substantial growth. There has
also been significant change in the executive management team. The Remuneration Committee has therefore decided, together with its
advisers, that it is now an appropriate time to review the relevance of the “performance contract” arrangement as part of a total review of
senior executive remuneration and the Company has already started consultation with its institutional shareholders on some of these
issues. Further details of this review will be communicated to shareholders as appropriate.
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For the year ended 30/11/2006, the executive Directors earned a short-term bonus of 40% of annual basic salary based on the achievement
of two financial performance targets approved by the Committee. Mr Higginson’s bonus was pro-rated from 29/6/2006 being the date on
which the Company and Mr Higginson entered into the Service Agreement for his appointment as a Director of the Company. 60% of the
potential maximum bonus payable was subject to a performance target based on growth in Group profit, with the remaining 40% payable on
the achievement of net average borrowings targets. To earn the bonus relating to net average borrowings targets, a minimum profit target
had to be achieved. In 2007, the executive Directors will again be eligible to receive a short-term bonus of up to 100% of salary.
The targets set for the 2007 bonus will again be dependent on the achievement of Group profit and net average borrowing targets. In
addition, the Committee is also introducing a qualitative target in respect of 15% of the maximum potential bonus payable.

As well as participating in the bonus arrangement described above, Paul Forman was awarded a one-off bonus of £250,000 in September
2005 for his exceptional achievement since joining the Company in September 2002. One-third of this bonus was paid to him in cash in
September 2005 with the balance being payable to him in Low & Bonar PLC ordinary shares (“Shares”) in two equal instalments on
5/9/2006 and 5/9/2007, subject to him remaining in the employment of the Company on these dates. Details of this arrangement,
including details of the Shares transferred to Mr Forman in September 2006, are shown in Table 5 below. At the time of structuring this
retention bonus, the Committee considered the substantial deferral of the bonus in the form of Shares to represent an efficient 
retention tool.

iii) LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS
The Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘2003 LTIP’)
The 2003 LTIP, which was approved by shareholders in February 2003, and amended by shareholders on 31/8/2005, forms the long-term
element of the remuneration structure for the executive Directors and senior executives. Both restricted share awards and share options
may be granted under the 2003 LTIP.

Each element of the 2003 LTIP is described below.

Restricted share awards made under the 2003 LTIP entitle participants to receive Shares without payment after a three-year period,
provided a demanding performance target set by the Committee is achieved. 

Recovery Phase Awards
All restricted share awards granted in 2003 and 2004 are “Recovery Phase Awards” (RPAs). These are high value/high performance awards
which will only vest if the Company meets demanding share price growth targets and other conditions described below. The Committee
has granted RPAs only to executives who have entered into the performance contract described in 2(ii) above and RPAs will lapse if a
participant’s notice period is shortened for breach of the performance contract. No further RPAs will be granted.

All of the following three performance conditions need to be met in order for RPAs to vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant
(the ‘Vesting Date’).

1. Increase in the Share price:
(a) 100% of the shares will vest if the Relevant Share Price(1) has increased by at least 125% of the Initial Price.(2)

(b) 50% of the shares will vest if the Relevant Share Price has increased by 100% of the Initial Price.
(c) The number of shares that will vest will increase on a straight line basis if the Relevant Share Price has increased between 100% and

125% from the Initial Price.
(d) No shares will vest if the Relevant Share Price has not increased by 100% from the Initial Price.

Notes
(1) The Relevant Share Price is the average Share Price over the period of 4 months immediately before the Vesting Date.
(2) The Initial Price for all of the outstanding RPAs is the average Share Price over the period of 4 months immediately before the date

of the award.

2. The Company’s earnings per share (before exceptional items) must increase by a 6% margin over the increase in the Retail Price Index
over the three year period starting with the financial year in which the grant of the RPA falls. 

3. The percentage increase in the Company’s share price over the three year performance period (including the value of net dividends
which are assumed to be reinvested in Shares on the date of payment by the Company) must equal or exceed the percentage increase
in the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index over the same period. 

When Shares vest, they will be released in equal tranches on the vesting date and the two anniversaries following vesting. If a participant
leaves employment due to his death, ill health, retirement or redundancy they, or in the case of their death their estate, will be entitled to
all such further tranches of vested ordinary shares under the RPA on the date or dates on which they would otherwise have been released
to the participant. If a participant leaves employment for any other reason after the vesting date but before the final tranche of vested
ordinary shares under the RPA has been released to the participant, they will not be entitled to any further tranches of vested ordinary
shares unless the Committee permits this at its absolute discretion. 

There will be no retest opportunities for any of the performance conditions. Full details of RPAs granted to senior executives are provided
in note 23 to the accounts.
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Restricted Share Awards made in 2005, 2006 and future awards
A revised performance target was approved by the Remuneration Committee in 2005. This applies to awards made in 2005 and 2006 and
to future grants of awards (subject to the Committee’s discretion under the 2003 LTIP rules to determine the performance condition that
should apply). The revised performance target relates to the Company’s total shareholder return (‘‘TSR’’) performance and earnings per
share (‘‘EPS’’) growth. In each case this will be measured over a three year period. TSR performance will be measured over the three year
period from date of the grant of the award, whilst EPS will be measured over the three year period commencing with the start of the
financial year in which the date of grant of the award falls. An equal number of shares in each award will be subject to the TSR and EPS
elements, which will operate as described below. There will be no retesting of any performance target.

Performance conditions for awards made to a participant of up to 100% of annual basic salary in any financial year:

(i) TSR Element
Company’s TSR ranking against comparator group(1) Proportion of award that will vest:
Below median 0%
Median 25%
Upper quartile (i.e. top 25%) 100%
Between median and upper quartile Straight-line vesting

(1) The Company’s TSR performance will be ranked against the TSR performance of the constituent members of the FTSE Small Cap
Total Return Index.

(ii) EPS Element
If the Company’s compound annual EPS growth
over the three year period is: Proportion of award that will vest:
Below Retail Price Index plus 4% 0%
Retail Price Index plus 4% 25%
Retail Price Index plus 9% 100%
Between Retail Price Index plus 4% and 9% Straight-line vesting

Performance conditions for any awards made to a participant in excess of 100% of annual basic salary in any financial year:
(The above performance conditions will apply to the value of the award up to 100% of annual basic salary.)

(iii) TSR Element
Company’s TSR ranking against comparator group(1) Proportion of award that will vest:
Below upper quartile 0%
Upper quartile 0%
Upper decile (i.e. top 10%) 100%
Between upper quartile and upper decile Straight-line vesting

(1) The Company’s TSR performance will be ranked against the TSR performance of the constituent members of the FTSE Small Cap
Total Return Index.

(iv) EPS Element
If the Company’s compound annual EPS growth
over the three year period is: Proportion of award that will vest:
Below Retail Price Index plus 9% 0%
Retail Price Index plus 9% 0%
Retail Price Index plus 12% 100%
Between Retail Price Index plus 9% and 12% Straight-line vesting

It is intended that future awards will be made on an annual basis, rather than every three years. Details of awards made during the year
are included at note 23.
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The maximum award which may be made to a participant in any financial year is 200% of salary. Accordingly, the maximum number of
shares which can vest under an award will be determined by dividing the relevant percentage of the participant’s salary by the Share price
at the time the award is made. The Committee will consider each year what percentage of salary awards should comprise, subject to the
200% limit. The maximum award made was to one individual, Paul Forman, and was in respect of 150% of his basic annual salary. The
Committee is satisfied, having in 2006 sought advice from the Company’s advisers on current market practice, that this level of award was
appropriate given the demanding performance targets.

The Committee has introduced share ownership guidelines. Executive Directors will normally be required to build up a shareholding equal
to at least 100% of basic annual salary through the retention of 50% of the shares received (post-tax) on vesting of awards. This applies to
awards granted after 31/8/2005 under the 2003 LTIP.

Details of the restricted share awards made to Paul Forman and Kevin Higginson, together with details of the RPAs that vested during the
year, are provided in Table 4 below.

Options granted under the 2003 LTIP will entitle participants to acquire ordinary shares at no less than the market value of a Share at the
time of grant, provided that an appropriate performance target set by the Committee is achieved. Provided the performance target is
achieved, options will normally be exercisable between the third and tenth anniversaries of grant. It is highly unlikely that participants will
be granted share options in the same year as they receive restricted share awards. 

Details of options granted to members of the Group’s senior management during the year are shown in note 23 to the accounts. No
options were granted to the executive Directors or any participants who have been awarded an RPA or LTIP. Options granted in 2004 and
2006 will not be exercisable unless the Company’s averaged annual compound growth in earnings per share (before exceptional items) is
at least 10% over the three year period commencing with the financial year proceeding the date of the grant. There will be no opportunity
to retest the performance target. If the option does not satisfy the performance condition, it will lapse unexercisable.

Phantom options: The plan also permits the grant of phantom options to participants. Phantom options are granted in jurisdictions where
the tax regime is detrimental to the granting of options over shares. Phantom options are subject to the same performance criteria as
options over shares. However, when a participant exercises his phantom option he will receive a cash bonus equivalent to the market value
of the Shares on the date of exercise less the exercise price of the phantom option. The cash bonus will be paid to participants subject to
the deduction of income tax and any other statutory deductions that the Company is obligated to make. A participant will not have the
right to purchase Shares. Phantom options were granted during the financial year to 30/11/2006, but these grants were not made to
Directors of the Company. Full details of the options granted in 2004 and 2006 are given in note 23 to the accounts. The number of
options that were granted to participants in 2004 and the relevant option price have been adjusted to take into account the effect of the
1 for 2 rights issue in August 2006.

iv) OTHER SHARE BASED INCENTIVES
No share options have been granted under the 1994 (No. 1) Management Share Option Scheme and the 1994 (No. 2) Management Share
Option Scheme since February 1999. Following the approval by Shareholders in 2003 of the 2003 LTIP no further share options have been
or will be granted under these schemes. No executive Director had any executive share options outstanding at 30/11/2006. 

Executive Directors remain eligible to participate in the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme, which is open to all eligible UK employees.
During the year options were granted under three or five year SAYE contracts at a 20% discount to the share price at the offer date. The
maximum overall employee contribution is £250 per month. None of the Directors has an interest in this scheme. 

3. DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT
i) Executive Directors
a) Mr Paul Forman, Group Chief Executive (“PAF”)
Paul Forman has entered into a service agreement dated 14/9/2002 (as amended by a letter dated 31/1/2003) in respect of his
appointment as Group Chief Executive.

His employment may be terminated by the Company giving him not less than 12 months’ notice in writing or by PAF giving the Company
not less than six months’ notice in writing. In the event of termination by the Company, the Company has the discretion to make a
payment in lieu of notice and the Committee may award him a bonus for the year of termination. If PAF’s employment is terminated within
12 months of a change of control of the Company, he will be entitled to a bonus in addition to the amount of any payment in lieu of
notice. The bonus payable will be the average of the bonuses paid or payable to him in respect of the complete bonus years prior to the
date on which his employment is terminated (subject to a maximum of three years preceding that date).
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PAF entered into an arrangement with the Company in January 2003 under which he is eligible to participate in the bonus arrangement
which provides for an annual bonus of up to 100% of salary provided that a combination of specific annual performance targets are met,
as detailed in section 2(ii) above. Certain performance targets will be capable of receiving a “Strike”. Failure to achieve one or more of
these performance targets in any financial year will constitute a Strike. In the event of two Strikes in any period of three years the
Company shall be entitled to terminate the employment of PAF on 12 weeks’ notice (rather than the 12 months’ notice to which he would
be entitled on dismissal by the Company). PAF did not receive a Strike during the financial years ended 30/11/2006 and 30/11/2005.

b) Mr Kevin Higginson, Group Finance Director (“KH”)
Kevin Higginson has entered into a service agreement dated 29/6/2006 in respect of his appointment as Group Finance Director on
5/9/2006.

His employment may be terminated by the Company giving him not less than 12 months’ notice in writing or by KH giving the Company
not less than six months’ notice in writing. In the event of termination by the Company, the Company has the discretion to make a
payment in lieu of notice.

Both PAF and KH can be dismissed without notice for gross misconduct.

ii) Non-Executive Directors
Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts but are appointed pursuant to letters of appointment renewable for periods of
three years as follows: 

Original Renewed for a period
Name appointment date of 3 years from 

Steve Hannam 1/9/2002 1/9/2005
Chris Littmoden 23/2/2005 N/A
Folkert Blaisse 1/1/2007 N/A
Martin Flower 1/1/2007 N/A

The appointment of the non-executive Directors may be terminated by either the Director or the Company giving six months’ notice in
writing.

During the year, the remuneration of the non-executive Directors was reviewed by the Nominations Committee, and the recommendations
of this review were approved by the Board (without the non-executive Directors participating in either Committee or Board decisions).
With effect from 1/12/2006, the ordinary annual fees for non-executive Directors were raised from £26,500 to £35,000 (with an unchanged
additional £3,700 for chairing a Board Committee). The Board was satisfied that this increase was appropriate in order to ensure that the
Company is able to attract non-executive Directors of the necessary calibre. In reaching this decision, the Board took account of the
increased time required to perform the duties of non-executive Directors of public companies and the fact that the Company’s fees had
fallen behind the market rate.

Article 81 of the Company’s Articles of Association currently restricts the ordinary annual fees (excluding remuneration for Committee
participation) of each of the non-executive Directors to £35,000. The effect of the increase in fees from 1/12/2006 is that there is no
longer any further scope to increase the non-executive Directors’ ordinary annual fees in the future, should that be appropriate. To ensure
that there is sufficient headroom for a future increase, the Board is seeking the approval of shareholders to an increase in the ceiling of the
ordinary annual fees payable to non-executive Directors from £35,000 to £45,000. The fees of the non-executive Directors will be
reviewed in November 2007 in the normal course.

The non-executive Directors do not participate in the Company’s annual bonus scheme, in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes
or in the Company’s pension scheme.

The Committee determines the remuneration of the Chairman. Remuneration paid to the Chairman and to the non-executive Directors
during the year is shown in Table 2 below.



Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

4. CHAIRMAN’S SERVICE AGREEMENT
Duncan Clegg has a service contract with the Company dated 28/10/2004 (the “Service Agreement”) under which his remuneration
comprises cash and share elements with retrospective effect from 1/4/2004. The cash element is a salary at the rate of £55,000 
per annum and a further fee of £6,350 per annum as Chairman of the Trustee Board of the Low & Bonar Group Retirement Benefit Scheme,
the Company’s UK defined benefit pension scheme. The share element is a number of shares derived by dividing a notional fee of £30,000
per annum by a reference share price which is reset periodically. For the period 1/12/2005 to 30/11/2007, the share element is at the rate
of 24,834 Shares per annum or 28,006 Shares per annum after adjustment for the rights issue in August 2006. This is based on a 120.8p
reference share price (being the average market value of a share over the one week following the announcement of the Company’s
preliminary results for the year ended 30/11/2005). 

During the year, the Chairman’s service contract was reviewed by the Committee. Following this review and with effect from 1/12/2006,
the cash element was increased from £55,000 to £95,000 per annum and the share element was unchanged at a notional fee of £30,000.
The fee of £6,350 that Mr Clegg receives as Chairman of the Trustee Board remains unchanged.

The Committee and the Board were satisfied that this increase was appropriate given Mr Clegg’s contribution to the progress of the
Company over the last few years, the number of days that he devotes to the Company and the fact that Mr Clegg’s remuneration has not
been reviewed since 2004.

The share element will be delivered to Duncan Clegg on a six-monthly basis (net of tax deductions). Duncan Clegg has agreed to retain
the shares received under this arrangement for the period of his Chairmanship.

Duncan Clegg will be entitled to a further 14,003 shares, (being 8,262 shares after tax), following the Company’s announcement of the
2006 preliminary results in respect of the period from 1/6/2006 to 30/11/2006.

Duncan Clegg’s appointment may be terminated by either he or the Company giving six months’ notice in writing. He does not
participate in the Company’s annual bonus scheme, in any of the Company’s share incentive schemes or in the Company’s pension
scheme.

5. PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following graph illustrates the performance of the Company compared to the FTSE Small Cap Total Return Index (the “Index”) over
the past five years. The Index has been chosen as the appropriate benchmark for the Company as it is a recognised broad equity market
index of which the Company has been a member throughout the period. The Index is also one of the performance measurements for the
award of shares made under the 2003 LTIP. Performance as required by the legislation is measured by TSR, being the increase on the
Share price over the period including the value of net dividends which are assumed to be reinvested in Shares on the date of payment by
the Company.
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PART 2: AUDITED INFORMATION

Table 1 Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 30/11/2006
£

Company
Salaries 366,592
Bonus 144,667
Benefits in kind 24,427
Pensions 104,250
Fees to non-executive Directors 184,604
Termination payments 274,119

1,098,659
Gains made on exercise of share options and Long Term Incentive Plan awards 360,738
Gains made on vesting of Deferred Retention Bonus 100,921

Aggregate emoluments 1,560,318

Table 2 Analysis of individual Directors’ emoluments
Salaries Annual Benefits Termination Total Total

and fees Bonuses Pensions in kind(1) Payments 2006 2005
£ £ £(2) £ £ £ £

Executive Directors
P A Forman(1)(2)(3) 270,000 108,000 81,000 17,159 — 476,159 595,763
K Higginson(1)(2)(4) 53,254 36,667 13,750 3,500 — 107,171 —
J Kempster(1)(2)(5) 43,338 — 9,500 3,768 274,119 330,725 371,359
Non-Executive Directors
R D Clegg(6)(7) 97,704 — — — — 97,704 94,634
C E Davies(8) 30,200 — — — — 30,200 29,350
S J Hannam(9) 30,200 — — — — 30,200 29,350
C Littmoden(10) 26,500 — — — — 26,500 22,082

551,196 144,667 104,250 24,427 274,119 1,098,659 1,142,538

Notes
(1) Benefits in kind are a car allowance and health insurance for the Director and his spouse/children under 21. 
(2) In addition to their salaries, the executive Directors are entitled to a percentage of their basic salary to enable them to make retirement

benefit arrangements. Payments made under this arrangement during the year were:

Cash payment, Employer’s Total payment in
subject to contribution into respect of retirement

Director % of annual basic salary statutory deductions personal pension plan benefit arrangements

Paul Forman 30% £61,560 £19,440 £81,000
Jon Kempster 25% £9,500 — £9,500
Kevin Higginson 25% — £13,750 £13,750

(3) Paul Forman was appointed as a non-executive director of Brammer PLC on 1/12/2006. Mr Forman received no remuneration from
Brammer during the year ended 30/11/2006.

(4) Kevin Higginson was appointed as a Director and as Group Finance Director on 5/9/2006.
(5) Jon Kempster resigned as a Director and as Group Finance Director on 28/2/2006. Mr Kempster received compensation payments

totalling £274,119 in respect of termination of his service contract.
(6) Included in the fee paid to Mr Clegg is a fee of £6,350 for his Chairmanship of the Low & Bonar Group Retirement Benefit Scheme (the

“Scheme”). This fee is recharged by the Company to the Scheme.
(7) In accordance with his Service Agreement, Mr Clegg will receive a further 14,003 shares, or 8,262 shares representing the after tax

share element, following the Company’s announcement of the 2006 preliminary results in respect of the period from 1/6/2006 to 
30/11/2006.

(8) Mr Davies received a fee of £3,700 for his Chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee.
(9) Mr Hannam received a fee of £3,700 for his Chairmanship of the Audit Committee.
(10) Mr Littmoden was appointed as a Director on 23/2/2005.
(11) Miss Thomas was appointed as interim Group Finance Director during the period 28/2/2006 to 4/9/2006. During this period she

received total remuneration of £117,400.



Directors’ Report on Remuneration continued

Table 3 Directors’ interests in shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the Company were:

30/11/2006* 1/12/2005†

R D Clegg 71,523 36,215
P A Forman 192,302 10,000
C E Davies 7,500 5,000
S J Hannam 91,317 60,878
K Higginson† 8,267 Nil
C Littmoden 7,500 5,000
J Kempster* 32,217 32,217

† As at 5/9/2006 the date of Mr Higginson’s appointment as a Director.
* As at 28/2/2006 the date of Mr Kempster’s resignation as a Director.

Notes
No changes to Directors’ interests during the period 1/12/2006 to 20/2/2007 have been notified to the Company. Messrs Blaisse and
Flower were appointed as Directors of the Company on 1/1/2007. They had no beneficial interest in the ordinary shares of the Company
during the period 1/1/2007 to 20/2/2007. 

No Director held any beneficial interest in or options over shares in or debentures of any other Group company at 30/11/2006 or at
20/2/2007.

Table 4 The Low & Bonar 2003 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the ‘2003 LTIP’)
Awards held by Directors under the 2003 LTIP were as follows:

Adjustment
for Rights Performance

At Awarded Vested Released Issue on At Award Date of period for
Director 1/12/2005 in year In year In year 17/8/2006 30/11/2006(2) price award award

P A Forman 838,926 — 838,926 279,642 71,476 630,760 53.64p 28/03/2003(1) 2002–2005
J Kempster(2) 259,135 — — — — 259,135 53.64p 28/03/2003 2002–2005
P A Forman 483,221 — — — 61,755 544,976 111.75p 05/09/2005 2005–2008
P A Forman — 343,220 — — — 343,220 118.00p 30/08/2006 2006–2009
K Higginson — 185,263 — — — 185,263 118.75p 05/09/2006 2006–2009

(1) This award vested in full on 28/3/2006, having satisfied all of the performance conditions detailed on page 26 of this Report. In
accordance with the Rules of the 2003 LTIP, the vested Shares have been or will be transferred to Mr Forman in three equal tranches,
provided that he remains in the employment of the Company as follows:
279,642 Shares were transferred on 30/3/2006(a)

315,380 Shares (279,642 Shares adjusted for Rights Issue) will be transferred on 28/3/2007
315,380 Shares (279,642 Shares adjusted for Rights Issue) will be transferred on 28/3/2008
(a) The closing market price of a Share on 30/3/2006 was 129 pence.

(2) Mr Kempster’s Shares vested on 28/2/2006 in accordance with the 2003 LTIP Rules. 129,568 Shares were transferred to Mr Kempster. The
remaining Shares, after adjustment for the rights issue, will be transferred to him on 28/2/2007.

Full details of the performance conditions are set out in 2(iii) above.
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Table 5 Deferred Bonus Arrangement
No. of Shares Adjustment No. of Shares

outstanding for Rights outstanding
at Awarded Issue on Released at Award Date of

Director 1/12/2005 in year 17/8/2006 in year(2) 30/11/2006(1) price award

P A Forman 149,142 — 19,060 84,101 84,101 111.75 05/09/2005

(1) A total of 84,101 ordinary shares will be released to Mr Forman on or shortly after 5/9/2007, subject to his remaining in the employment
of the Company at that date.

(2) The market value of an ordinary share on 11/9/2006, the date on which the shares were transferred to Mr Forman was 120 pence.

Directors’ Share Options
As at 30/11/2006 no Directors held any options under the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme. No options were granted or exercised by
any Director during the year ended 30/11/2006. No options have been granted to any Director during the period 1/12/2006 to 20/2/2007.

The market price of the shares at 30/11/2006 was 127.5 pence and the range during the year to 30/11/2006 was 114.5 pence to 
139 pence.

Christopher Littmoden
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
on behalf of the Board of Directors

20 February 2007



Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report 
and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Parent Company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that law
they are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable laws and have
elected to prepare the Parent Company financial statements on the same basis.The Group and Parent Company financial statements are
required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the Group and the Parent Company and the
performance for that period; the Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to such financial statements that references in the relevant part
of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 

In preparing each of the Group and Parent Company financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Parent
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have
a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. 

Under applicable law and regulations the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report
and Corporate Governance Statement that comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.  
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Report of the Independent Auditors to the members of Low & Bonar PLC

We have audited the Group and Parent Company financial statements (the ‘’financial statements’‘) of Low & Bonar PLC for the year ended
30 November 2006 which comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent
Company Cash Flow Statements, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Recognised Income and Expense, and the related notes.
These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 34.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in accordance with
relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and,
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information
given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

In addition, we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed. 

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2006
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements.

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to
provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.

OPINION

In our opinion:

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s
affairs as at 30 November 2006 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

• the Parent Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 November 2006;

• the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.

KPMG Audit Plc 
Chartered Accountants
Nottingham
Registered Auditor
20 February 2007



Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 30 November 2006

2006 2005 
Before Before

amortisation Amortisation amortisation Amortisation
and non- and non- and non- and non-
recurring recurring recurring recurring

items items Total items items Total
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 1 224.5 — 224.5 175.4 — 175.4

Operating profit 1 17.0 (4.9) 12.1 13.3 (2.1) 11.2

EU fine 5 — — — — (8.5) (8.5)

Financial income 6 9.0 — 9.0 8.3 — 8.3
Financial expenses 6 (11.3) — (11.3) (9.4) — (9.4)

Net financing costs (2.3) — (2.3) (1.1) — (1.1)

Profit before taxation 2 14.7 (4.9) 9.8 12.2 (10.6) 1.6
Taxation 7 (4.2) 1.5 (2.7) (1.2) 0.3 (0.9)

Profit after taxation 10.5 (3.4) 7.1 11.0 (10.3) 0.7

Discontinued operations 29 — — — — (7.6) (7.6)

Profit/(loss) for the year 10.5 (3.4) 7.1 11.0 (17.9) (6.9)

Attributable to
Equity holders of the Company 10.1 (3.4) 6.7 10.7 (17.9) (7.2)
Minority interest 27 0.4 — 0.4 0.3 — 0.3

10.5 (3.4) 7.1 11.0 (17.9) (6.9)

Earnings/(losses) per share from
continuing and discontinued business 10
Basic 5.80p (6.39)p
Diluted 5.72p (6.25)p

Earnings per share from
continuing business 10
Basic 5.80p 0.36p
Diluted 5.72p 0.35p
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Balance Sheets
for the year ended 30 November 2006

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

Notes £m £m £m £m

Non current assets
Goodwill 11 46.6 25.0 — —
Intangible fixed assets 12 22.4 9.0 — —
Property, plant and equipment 13 90.2 38.1 0.2 0.1
Investments in subsidiaries 14 — — 78.7 78.7
Investment in associate 15 0.1 — — —
Deferred tax assets 21 7.3 9.4 5.4 9.4
Other receivables 17 — — 74.6 0.9

166.6 81.5 158.9 89.1

Current assets
Inventories 16 49.5 29.6 — —
Trade and other receivables 17 52.2 39.2 45.2 38.2
Current tax receivable 17 — — 2.5 2.9
Financial assets 19 0.9 — 0.3 —
Cash and cash equivalents 3.3 14.7 0.8 9.8

105.9 83.5 48.8 50.9
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 12.5 1.9 16.2 9.8
Current tax liabilities 18 4.1 1.7 — —
Trade and other payables 18 63.6 53.4 11.9 19.2
Financial liabilities 19 0.1 — — —

80.3 57.0 28.1 29.0

Net current assets 25.6 26.5 20.7 21.9

Non current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 36.9 — 36.4 —
Deferred tax liabilities 21 16.7 7.0 — —
Post employment benefits 4 19.8 28.9 15.4 28.5
Other payables 22 1.9 3.5 37.9 34.9

75.3 39.4 89.7 63.4

Net assets 116.9 68.6 89.9 47.6

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 23 38.3 25.5 38.3 25.5
Share premium account 24 29.9 — 29.9 —
Translation reserve 25 0.2 1.0 — —
Retained earnings 25 45.7 39.3 21.7 22.1

Total equity attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 26 114.1 65.8 89.9 47.6
Minority interest 27 2.8 2.8 — —

Total equity 116.9 68.6 89.9 47.6

Signed P A Forman
K M Higginson

Dated 20 February 2007



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 November 2006

2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year 7.1 (6.9)
Less discontinued operations — 7.6

Profit for the year from continuing operations 7.1 0.7

Adjustments for
Depreciation 7.0 4.7
Amortisation 2.4 1.1
Income tax expense 2.7 0.9
Net financing costs 2.3 1.1
EU fine — 8.5
Increase in inventories (6.7) (1.7)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1.0 (3.7)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1.2) 2.7
Equity settled share based payment 1.0 0.3

Cash inflow from operations 15.6 14.6

Financial income 1.4 1.0
Financial expenses (3.2) (1.5)
Tax paid (1.7) (2.0)
EU fine paid (8.5) —
Pension cash contributions in excess of operating charge (6.0) (5.4)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (2.4) 6.7

Acquisition of subsidiaries and associate — net of cash 28 (36.7) (19.8)
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (9.9) (6.0)
Intangible assets purchased (0.3) (0.4)
Disposal of subsidiaries 29 1.5 20.2
Disposal of property, plant & equipment 1.5 0.3

Net cash outflow from investing activities (43.9) (5.7)

Proceeds of share issues 43.1 0.3
Purchase of own shares (1.5) (0.3)
Repayment of loans — (12.3)
Additional loans 46.0 —
External debt acquired with subsidiaries (45.9) —
Equity dividends paid (6.6) (2.9)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 35.1 (15.2)

Net cash outflow (11.2) (14.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 14.7 28.9
Exchange (0.2) —

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3.3 14.7
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Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 November 2006

2006 2005
£m £m

Profit/(loss) for the year — (32.6)

Adjustments for
Depreciation 0.1 0.1
Income tax expense (1.5) (3.6)
Net financing costs 2.6 1.3
Investment impairment — 22.5
Dividend income (5.0) —
Increase in other receivables (78.1) 47.9
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (5.9) 6.4
Equity settled share based payment 1.0 0.3

Cash (outflow)/inflow from operations (86.8) 42.3

Financial income 2.0 2.5
Financial expenses (4.1) (4.0)
Tax recovered 3.6 2.1
Pension cash contributions in excess of operating charge (6.0) (5.4)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (91.3) 37.5

Acquisition of subsidiary — net of cash — (8.1)
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (0.1) —
Dividend income 5.0 —

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 4.9 (8.1)

Proceeds of share issues 43.1 0.3
Purchase of own shares (1.5) (0.3)
Repayment of loans — (21.5)
Additional loans 42.4 —
Equity dividends paid (6.6) (2.9)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 77.4 (24.4)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (9.0) 5.0
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 9.8 4.8

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 0.8 9.8



Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the year ended 30 November 2006

Group 2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Foreign exchange translation differences (1.1) 1.3
Fair value movement in cash flow hedges (0.3) —
Deferred tax on share based payment — 0.2
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 4 7.3 (1.0)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme 4 (2.2) 0.3

Net income recognised directly in equity 3.7 0.8

Profit/(loss) for the year 7.1 (6.9)

Total recognised income and (expense) for the year 10.8 (6.1)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 26 10.7 (6.7)
Minority interest 27 0.1 0.6

10.8 (6.1)

Effect of changes in accounting policy:
Effect of adoption of IAS 39 on 1 December 2005 (with 2005 not restated) on :
Total recognised income and (expense) for the year 10.8 (6.1)
Adjustment to retained earnings 26 0.3 —

11.1 (6.1)

Company 2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Deferred tax on share based payment — 0.2
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension scheme 4 7.3 (1.0)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme 4 (2.2) 0.3

Net expense recognised directly in equity 5.1 (0.5)

Profit/(loss) for the year — (32.6)

Total recognised income and (expense) for the year 5.1 (33.1)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 26 5.1 (33.1)
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Significant accounting policies

GENERAL INFORMATION
Low & Bonar PLC (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Scotland and incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies
Act 1985. The address of the registered office is 50 Castle Street, Dundee, DD1 3RU. The management head office is 50 Seymour Street,
London, W1H 7JG. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 November 2006 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”).

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, rounded to the nearest hundred thousand pounds. They are prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the revaluation to fair value of certain financial instruments. 

Both the parent Company financial statements and the Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU (adopted IFRS). At the date of authorisation of these financial statements there
are a number of Standards and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective and have therefore not yet been applied in these financial
statements. The Directors anticipate that adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on
the financial statements of the Group or the Company.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial
statements and in preparing an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 December 2004 for the purposes of transition to adopted IFRS. As more
fully explained below, accounting for financial instruments was determined on different bases in the year ended 30 November 2005 and
the year ended 30 November 2006 due to the transitional provisions of IAS 32 “Financial Instruments Presentation and Disclosure” and
IAS 39 “Financial Instruments Measurement and Recognition”. The Company has elected to apply UK GAAP to its comparative accounts
(i.e. 1 December 2004 to 30 November 2005) and implement IAS 32 and IAS 39 at 1 December 2005. On 1 December 2005 in accordance
with IAS 32 and IAS 39 all derivative financial instruments were recorded at their fair value and preference shares with a nominal value of
£0.4m were reallocated to non current liabilities, interest bearing borrowings. The net adjustment to equity at 1 December 2005 was a
decrease of £0.1m (note 26). This adjustment has no impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 
30 November 2006. 

(B) FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS
The financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2006 are the first to be prepared by the Group in accordance with adopted
IFRS and consequently the Group has applied IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of IFRS” in the financial statements.

IFRS 1 permits companies adopting IFRS for the first time to take exemptions from the full requirements of IFRS in the transition period.
In these financial statements the following permitted exemptions have been applied.

(a) Business combinations prior to 1 December 2004 have not been restated to comply with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”.
(b) Cumulative translation differences on foreign operations are deemed to be zero at 1 December 2004. Any gains and losses recognised

in the consolidated income statement on subsequent disposals of foreign operations will therefore exclude translation differences
arising prior to the transition date.

(c) IAS 32 and IAS 39 have been adopted from 1 December 2005, with no restatement of comparative information. (Comparative
information has been prepared and disclosed in accordance with UK GAAP.)

(d) Only share based payment awards made after 7 November 2002 have been measured in accordance with IFRS 2 “Share Based
Payment”.

The Group has adopted early the amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”.

(C) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at
cost less impairment.

The interest of minority shareholders is initially stated at the minority’s share of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
recognised on the date of acquisition. 

(ii) Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies. The
consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates on an equity accounted
basis, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When the Group’s share of losses
exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group’s carrying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate.

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-Group balances and transactions and any unrealised gains arising from intra-Group transactions are eliminated in preparing
consolidated financial statements. 
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(D) FOREIGN CURRENCY
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into pounds sterling at the foreign exchange rate
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement. Non monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated into pounds sterling at foreign exchange rates ruling
at the date the fair values were determined. Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using exchange rate at the date of transaction. 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The income statements of foreign operations are translated at an average rate for
the period where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Exchange differences arising
from this translation of foreign operations, and of related qualifying hedges are taken directly to the translation reserve within equity. They
are released to the income statement upon disposal. 

The Group has taken advantage of the relief available in IFRS 1 to deem the cumulative translation differences for all foreign operations to
be zero at the date of transitions to IFRS, 1 December 2004.

(ii) Hedging of risks
In order to hedge its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks, the Group enters into forward exchange contracts (see accounting
policies E and F).

(E) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks arising from operational and investment
activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are subsequently remeasured to their
fair value with the resultant gain or loss being recognised in income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting,
recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged (see accounting policy F).

(F) HEDGING
(i) Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, a firm
commitment or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is
recognised as a separate component of equity. When the firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability, the cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial measurement of the asset or
liability. Otherwise the cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement at the same time as the
hedged transaction. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised in the income statement immediately. 

When a hedging instrument or hedge relationship is terminated but the hedged transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain
or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged
transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income
statement immediately.

(ii) Hedge of net investment in foreign operation
Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of related hedges, are taken to the
translation reserve. They are released to the income statement upon disposal.

In respect of all foreign operations, any differences that have arisen since 1 December 2004, the date of transition to adopted IFRS, are
presented as a separate component of equity in the Group financial statements.

(G) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(i) Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment (see accounting
policy L). The cost of self constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items of plant, property and equipment.

(ii) Leased assets
Leases whereby the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Plant and
equipment acquired by way of finance lease is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation (see below) and impairment losses (see accounting
policy L). Lease payments are accounted for as described in accounting policy S. Where land and buildings are held under lease the
accounting treatment of the land is considered separately from that of buildings.
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(iii) Subsequent expenditure
The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing part of such an item when
that cost is incurred, if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the income statement as an expense incurred. 

(iv) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment, and major components that are accounted for separately. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows

— property 20–50 years
— plant and equipment 3–15 years

(H) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. In respect of acquisitions that have occurred since 1 December 2004,
goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets (including intangible
assets and contingent liabilities) acquired.

In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 December 2004, goodwill is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which represents the amount
recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly comparable save that separable intangibles were not recognised and goodwill was
amortised. The classification and accounting treatment of business combinations that occurred prior to 1 December 2004 have not been
reconsidered in preparing the Group’s opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 December 2004. Goodwill written off to reserves under UK GAAP
prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill is stated at deemed cost less any accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy L). 

(ii) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is
recognised in the income statement as an expense is incurred. 

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in the income statement as an expense is incurred.
Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see accounting policy L).

(iii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see
accounting policy L). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense is
incurred.

(iv) Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets unless such
lives are indefinite. Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life are not amortised but are systematically tested for impairment
annually and further tested at each balance sheet date if there is any evidence of potential impairment. Other intangible assets are
amortised from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives of the identified intangible assets are as follows:

— technology based 5–10 years
— customer relationships 4–11 years
— marketing related 10 years
— order backlog 3 months
— non compete agreements 4–5 years

(I) TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less impairment losses (see accounting policy L).

(J) INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories is based on the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and
bringing them to their existing location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, cost includes an
appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity.
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(K) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of 
cash flows.

(L) IMPAIRMENT
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets, other than inventories (accounting policy J), and deferred tax assets (accounting policy U) are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for
use, the recoverable amount is estimated at each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of
an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash generating units (group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversible. Other impairment losses are reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives were tested for impairment at 1 December 2004, the date of transition to IFRS,
even though no indication of impairment existed.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assumptions of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(M) SHARE CAPITAL
(i) Preference share capital
Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity (i.e. forming part of shareholders’ funds)
only to the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

(a) They include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or to exchange financial assets or
financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Company.

(b) Where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a non-derivative that includes no
obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company
exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where the instrument so classified
takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and
share premium account exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of financial expenses. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends, and are recorded directly in equity.

(ii) Dividends
Dividends on redeemable preference shares are recognised as a liability on an accrual basis. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised
as a liability in the period in which they are declared. Dividend income is recognised in the income statement on the date that the
dividend is declared.

(N) INTEREST BEARING BORROWINGS
Interest bearing borrowings are recognised initially at cost, less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(O) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Group operates defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans. The Company also offers share based
compensation benefits to certain employees.

(i) Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution pension plan is one under which fixed contributions are paid to a third party. The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions have been paid. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised
as an expense in the income statement as incurred.
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(ii) Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit pension plan is one that specifies the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement. The
Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to
determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on
AA credit rated bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed by a
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised actuarial losses
and past service costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

If the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is recognised as an
expense in the income statement on a straight line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested from the date of
improvement. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised immediately in the income statement.

All actuarial gains and losses as at 1 December 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, were recognised. In respect of actuarial gains and
losses that arise subsequent to 1 December 2004 these are recognised immediately in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense.

(iii) Equity and equity-related compensation benefits
The Company and Group have applied the requirements of IFRS 2. In accordance with the exemption available within the transitional
provisions of IFRS 1, IFRS 2 has been applied to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as of 
1 January 2005. 

The Company operates various equity settled and cash settled share option schemes. Equity settled share based payments are measured
at fair value at the date of the grant, and the fair value determined at the grant date of these payments is expensed on a straight line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. The fair value of cash settled payments are
remeasured at each balance sheet date and the cost of these payments is recognised over the vesting period, taking into account the
remeasurement of fair value at each balance sheet date.

The Low & Bonar 1995 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust (the “ESOP”) purchases shares in the Company in order to satisfy awards
made under the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan. Shares held by the ESOP are treated as Treasury Shares and a deduction is
computed in the Company’s issued share capital for the purposes of calculating earnings per share.

Fair value is measured by use of the Monte Carlo Simulation model.

(P) PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions for restructuring costs are
recognised when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been communicated to affected parties. 

(Q) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables are stated at their amortised cost. They are not interest bearing.

(R) REVENUE — GOODS SOLD AND SERVICES RENDERED
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes. Sales of goods are recognised
when the Group has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer, the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits of the transaction will flow to the Group. 

(S) EXPENSES
(i) Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives are recognised in the income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

(ii) Finance lease payments
Payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

(iii) Net financing costs
Net financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, dividends on redeemable
preference shares, return on scheme assets and interest costs on scheme liabilities in respect of defined benefit pension schemes, interest
receivable on funds invested, dividend income, foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement (see accounting policy F). Interest income is recognised in the income statement as it accrues, taking
into account the effective yield on the asset. 
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(T) NON-RECURRING ITEMS
Items which are both material and non-recurring are presented within their relevant consolidated income statement category. The
separate reporting of non-recurring items helps provide a better indication of the Group’s underlying business performance. 

(U) TAXATION
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are
not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit; goodwill in respect of
acquisitions prior to 1 December 2004; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not
reverse in the future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner or realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(V) SEGMENT REPORTING
A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services (business segment), or in
providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment). The Group identifies business segments
as its primary segments. The business segments identified are Floors and Technical Textiles.

(W) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of
operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale, that has been disposed of, has been abandoned, or that meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale.

Discontinued operations are presented on the income statement in a single line including the post tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation and the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the remeasurement to fair value less costs to sell or on disposal of the assets or
disposal groups that constitute the discontinued operations.

(X) BORROWINGS
Borrowings are carried at their issue proceeds net of finance costs, less amounts repaid. Finance costs are allocated over the term of the
borrowings.

(Y) SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods. 

In relation to the Group’s property, plant and equipment (note 13), useful economic lives and residual values of assets have been
established using historical experience and an assessment of the nature of the assets involved. Impairment tests have been undertaken
with respect to intangible assets (note 12) using commercial judgement and a number of assumptions and estimates have been made to
support their carrying amounts. 

(Z) FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
With respect to the financial guarantee contracts, where the Group enters into such contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other
companies within the Group, the Group considers these to be insurance arrangements, and accounts for them as such. In this respect the
Group treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it becomes probable that the Group will be required to
make a payment under the guarantee.
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Notes to the Accounts

1. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Primary Reporting Format — Business Segments
For management purposes, the Group is organised into two operating divisions — Floors and Technical Textiles. Both Divisions
operate internationally. These Divisions are the basis on which the Group reports it primary segment information. Segment assets and
liabilities include items directly attributable to segments as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated
items comprise mainly cash and cash equivalents, interest bearing loans, borrowings, post-employment benefits, taxation balances and
corporate assets and expenses. Intra-segment sales are not material.

The Floors Division supplies floor coverings to the contract flooring market.

The Technical Textiles Division serves four principal markets, the first of which includes the production and supply of specialist yarns.
The second involves the production and distribution of woven and non-woven industrial fabrics, geotextiles and agrotextiles used in a
wide number of applications. The third activity is the production and supply of fibres for specialist applications in the concrete
construction industry. The final product group is the production and supply of three dimensional polymeric mats and composites for
civil engineering and industrial applications. 

Secondary Reporting Format — Geography
The Group identify four distinct geographical markets: UK, Europe, North America and Asia.

Primary segment — Business
2006

Technical Unallocated
Floors Textiles Central Total

£m £m £m £m

Revenue 97.3 127.2 — 224.5

Operating profit before amortisation and non-recurring items 10.7 9.1 (2.8) 17.0
Amortisation of intangibles (0.2) (2.2) — (2.4)

Operating profit before non-recurring items 10.5 6.9 (2.8) 14.6
Non-recurring items — (2.0) (0.5) (2.5)

Operating profit 10.5 4.9 (3.3) 12.1
Net financing costs — — (2.3) (2.3)

Profit before taxation 10.5 4.9 (5.6) 9.8
Taxation (2.7)

Profit after taxation 7.1

Capital expenditure 2.2 7.9 0.1 10.2

Depreciation 1.7 5.2 0.1 7.0

Impairment — — — —

Segment assets 58.6 200.7 259.3
Segment liabilities (18.6) (40.7) (59.3)

Segment net assets 40.0 160.0 200.0

Unallocated liabilities (37.0)
Cash and cash equivalents 3.3
Interest bearing borrowings (49.4)

Group net assets 116.9
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1. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
Secondary segment — Geography

2006
European North

Union America Asia Unallocated Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 205.1 12.2 7.2 — 224.5

Operating profit before non-recurring items 15.3 1.4 0.7 (2.8) 14.6
Non-recurring items (2.5)

Operating profit 12.1
Net financing costs (2.3)

Profit before taxation 9.8
Taxation (2.7)

Profit after taxation 7.1

Segment assets 233.0 20.1 6.2 259.3
Segment liabilities (54.5) (4.3) (0.5) (59.3)

Segment net assets 178.5 15.8 5.7 200.0
Unallocated liabilities (37.0)
Cash and cash equivalents 3.3
Interest bearing borrowings (49.4)

Group net assets 116.9

Primary segment — Business
2005

Technical Unallocated
Floors Textiles Central Total

£m £m £m £m

Revenue 97.7 77.7 — 175.4

Operating profit before amortisation and non-recurring items 8.9 7.4 (3.0) 13.3
Amortisation of intangible assets (0.2) (0.9) — (1.1)

Operating profit before non-recurring items 8.7 6.5 (3.0) 12.2
Non-recurring items (1.1) 0.2 (0.1) (1.0)

Operating profit 7.6 6.7 (3.1) 11.2
EU Fine — — (8.5) (8.5)
Net financing costs — — (1.1) (1.1)

Profit before taxation 7.6 6.7 (12.7) 1.6
Taxation (0.9)
Discontinued operations (7.6)

Profit after taxation (6.9)

Capital expenditure 1.0 4.3 — 5.3

Depreciation 1.7 2.9 0.1 4.7

Impairment — — — —

Segment assets 59.6 79.4 139.0
Segment liabilities (20.2) (24.7) (44.9)

Segment net assets 39.4 54.7 94.1

Unallocated liabilities (38.3)
Cash and cash equivalents 14.7
Interest bearing borrowings (1.9)

Group net assets 68.6
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Secondary segment — Geography
2005

European North
Union America Asia Unallocated Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 170.1 — 5.3 — 175.4

Operating profit before non-recurring items 14.6 — 0.6 (3.0) 12.2
Non-recurring items (1.2)
Other operating income 0.2

Operating profit 11.2
EU Fine (8.5)
Net financing costs (1.1)

Profit before taxation 1.6
Taxation (0.9)
Discontinued operations (7.6)

Profit after taxation (6.9)

Segment assets 133.0 — 6.0 139.0
Segment liabilities (44.5) — (0.4) (44.9)

Segment net assets 88.5 — 5.6 94.1

Unallocated liabilities (38.3)
Cash and cash equivalents 14.7
Interest bearing borrowings (1.9)

Group net assets 68.6

2. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Operating profit has been arrived at after charging/(crediting)

2006 2005
£m £m

Staff costs 51.0 41.1
Inventories

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 152.4 111.0
Write down of inventories recognised as an expense 0.5 0.5

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7.0 4.7
Amortisation of intangible assets 2.4 1.1

Amounts payable under operating leases
Property 0.7 0.7
Plant and equipment 1.1 1.2

Trade receivables impairment 0.3 0.2
Research and development expenditure recognised as an expense 2.0 1.7
Exchange differences recognised as a (gain)/expense (0.4) —

Auditors’ remuneration
During the year the Group obtained the following services from its auditors at costs detailed below

2006 2005
£m £m

Audit of these financial statements 0.1 0.1
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries 0.4 0.2
Non-audit services

Acquisition due diligence/planning 0.5 0.1
Corporate tax compliance 0.1 0.1
Corporate tax consultancy 0.1 0.2
Other 0.1 0.2

Of these fees, £0.5m were not included in the income statement as they were capitalised as part of the acquisition costs of the
Colbond Group. In 2005 fees of £0.2m relating to the sale of the Plastics Division were included within discontinued operations. The
total amount paid to the auditors was £1.3m (2005: £0.9m).
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3. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS
The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year including executive Directors was

Group Group
2006 2005

Floors 656 679
Technical Textiles 1,218 879

1,874 1,558

The aggregate staff costs were
Group Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Wages and salaries 41.2 33.9
Social security costs 7.1 5.3
Pension costs 2.7 1.9

51.0 41.1

The Directors of the Company are listed in the Report of the Directors on page 14.

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was 19 (2005: 20).

4. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The Group operates a number of pension schemes in the UK and overseas. These are either defined benefit or defined contribution in
nature. The assets of all the schemes are held separately from those of the Group.

a) Defined contribution schemes
Various defined contribution pension schemes exist around the Group. These are accounted for on a contribution payable basis. The
total cost charged to income in respect of defined contribution pension schemes was £1.9m (2005: £1.1m).

b) Description of defined benefit plans
i) United Kingdom
The UK defined benefit scheme was independently valued by a qualified actuary at 31 March 2005. The main assumption in carrying
out the valuation was for investment returns to exceed earnings increases by 1.5%. At 31 March 2005 the total market value of assets
in the UK scheme was £114.0m. The overall level of funding was 77%. The net income statement charge for the year for the UK
pension scheme was £1.0m (2005: £1.2m). This is not expected to change materially in the next financial year.

The Company agreed with the Trustees of the UK defined benefit scheme a schedule of contributions to fund a deficit under the
Minimum Funding Requirement. Under this agreement the Company has made payments of £6.0m during the year (2005: £5.4m). The
Company has agreed to pay further contributions of £3.0m per year in the years ending 30 November 2007 and 30 November 2008.
The impact of changes in normal retirement age for members of pension schemes following the Barber decision on 17 May 1990 by
the European Court of Justice and the Scheme’s consequent decision in 1991 to equalize retirement ages for men and women at 65
years will probably require additional funding due to the manner in which this decision was enacted. However, no quantification of this
additional funding is possible at the date of approval of these financial statements.

ii) Non UK
A defined benefit scheme exists in Belgium. The assets, which are held separately from the Company, total £1.5m at 30 November
2006 (2005: £1.4m) and the latest actuarial update shows the scheme to be fully funded. Further defined benefit schemes are also
found in Germany and the USA relating to the Colbond business acquired during the year. Further disclosure on these schemes is
detailed below. These schemes have small deficits as measured by IAS 19. Defined benefit schemes also exist in our two Dutch
businesses. They are both members of an industry wide scheme and it is not possible to separately identify assets and liabilities and
both theses schemes are accounted for on a contribution payable basis. The Group will share in the actuarial gains and losses of the
industry wide schemes. The French business provides for a lump sum payable on retirement of £0.6m (2005: £0.4m).
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4. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED
c) Financial Assumptions
The financial assumptions used to estimate defined benefit obligations are

UK schemes Non UK schemes
2006 2005 2006 2005

% % % %

Discount rate 5.00 5.00 4.25–5.00 —
Expected return on scheme assets 6.05 6.52 7.55 —
Future salary increases 4.40 4.25 1.75 —
Future pension increases 2.90 2.75 1.50–2.00 —
Inflation increase 2.90 2.75 1.50–2.00 —

In assessing the Group’s post-retirement liabilities the Group monitors mortality assumptions and uses up-to-date mortality tables. The
mortality assumptions for the UK scheme were updated in 2005 following the work performed for the full funding valuation. Allowance
is made for expected future increases in expectancy.

d)Financial Impact of Plans
The total amount recognised for defined benefit schemes is as follows

UK schemes Non UK schemes Total
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of scheme assets 141.1 128.0 5.2 — 146.3 128.0
Present value of defined benefit obligations (156.5) (156.5) (9.0) — (165.5) (156.5)
Lump sum payable for French scheme — — (0.6) (0.4) (0.6) (0.4)

Net liability recognised in the balance sheet (15.4) (28.5) (4.4) (0.4) (19.8) (28.9)

Amounts recognised in the income statement in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes are as follows
UK schemes Non UK schemes Total

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Current service cost 0.7 0.8 0.1 — 0.8 0.8
Interest cost 7.7 7.4 0.2 — 7.9 7.4
Expected return on scheme assets (7.4) (7.0) (0.2) — (7.6) (7.0)

1.0 1.2 0.1 — 1.1 1.2

Amounts recognised in the SORIE (statement of recognised income and expense) are as follows
2006 2005

£m £m

Actuarial gain/(loss) 7.3 (1.0)
Associated deferred taxation (2.2) 0.3

The cumulative gain recognised in the SORIE is £4.4m.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows
UK schemes Non UK schemes Total

2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Opening defined benefit obligation 156.5 139.8 — — 156.5 139.8
Arising on acquisition — — 9.1 — 9.1 —
Current service cost 0.7 0.8 0.1 — 0.8 0.8
Interest cost 7.7 7.4 0.2 — 7.9 7.4
Plan participants’ contributions 0.2 0.2 — — 0.2 0.2
Actuarial (gain)/loss (2.2) 14.4 0.2 — (2.0) 14.4
Benefits paid (6.4) (6.1) (0.2) — (6.6) (6.1)
Exchange differences — — (0.4) — (0.4) —

Closing defined benefit obligation 156.5 156.5 9.0 — 165.5 156.5
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4. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS CONTINUED
Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows

UK schemes Non UK schemes Total
2006 2005 2006 2005 2006 2005

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Opening fair value of scheme assets 128.0 107.4 — — 128.0 107.4
Arising on acquisition — — 5.3 — 5.3 —
Expected return 7.4 7.0 0.2 — 7.6 7.0
Actuarial gains 5.1 13.4 0.2 — 5.3 13.4
Contributions by employer 6.8 6.1 0.1 — 6.9 6.1
Plan participants’ contributions 0.2 0.2 — — 0.2 0.2
Benefits paid (6.4) (6.1) (0.2) — (6.6) (6.1)
Exchange differences — — (0.4) — (0.4) —

Closing fair value of scheme assets 141.1 128.0 5.2 — 146.3 128.0

The fair value of the UK scheme assets at the balance sheet date is analysed as follows
2006 2006 2005 2005

£m % £m %

Equity securities 70.5 50 88.3 69
Debt securities 56.5 40 28.2 22
Property 12.7 9 10.2 8
Cash and other 1.4 1 1.3 1

141.1 100 128.0 100

The fair value of the non-UK scheme assets at the balance sheet date is analysed as follows
2006 2006 2005 2005

£m % £m %

Equity securities 3.0 58 — —
Debt securities 2.0 38 — —
Cash and other 0.2 4 — —

5.2 100 — —

5. NON-RECURRING ITEMS
During the year the Group incurred significant one-off items as detailed below.

2006 2005
£m £m

Amounts charged to operating profit
Technical Textiles restructuring 2.0 —
Floors restructuring — 1.1
Aborted transaction costs 0.5 —
Gain on sale of fixed assets — (0.2)
Capital reorganisation — 0.1

2.5 1.0

EU Fine — 8.5

Technical Textiles reorganisation costs include redundancy and other restructuring costs within the existing specialist yarn and
construction fibres businesses, and redundancies within the recently acquired Colbond business. 
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6. FINANCIAL INCOME AND FINANCIAL EXPENSES
2006 2005

£m £m

Financial income
Interest income on deposits 1.4 1.3
Expected return on pension plan assets 7.6 7.0

9.0 8.3

Financial expenses
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (3.3) (2.0)
Interest on finance leases (0.1) —
Interest on pension scheme liabilities (7.9) (7.4)

(11.3) (9.4)

7. TAXATION 
Recognised in the income statement

2006 2005
Current tax £m £m

UK corporation tax
current year — —
prior year — (1.6)

— (1.6)
Overseas tax
current year 3.0 1.8
prior year — (0.4)

3.0 1.4

Total current tax 3.0 (0.2)

Deferred tax (0.3) 1.1

Total tax charge in the income statement 2.7 0.9

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK
corporation tax of 30% (2005: 30%) to the profit before tax are as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Profit before tax 9.8 1.6

Tax charge at 30% 2.9 0.5
Expenses not deductible and income not taxable 0.3 0.7
(Lower)/higher tax rates on overseas earnings (0.1) 0.2
Current tax losses not utilised 0.6 —
Tax losses utilised (0.6) (0.1)
Other short term timing differences (0.4) 1.6
Prior period adjustments — (2.0)

Total tax charge for the year 2.7 0.9

Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
2006 2005

£m £m

Actuarial gains and losses relating to retirement benefits obligations 2.2 (0.3)
Relating to share based payments — (0.2)

Total 2.2 (0.5)

8. PROFITS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The Company has not presented its own income statement as permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985. The amount of
profit after tax was £nil (2005: loss of £32.6m after tax).
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9. DIVIDENDS 
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period

2006 2005
£m £m

Final dividend for the year ended
30 November 2005 — 2.64p per share* (2004: 2.57p per share*) 3.1 2.9

Interim dividend for the year ended
30 November 2006 — 1.58p per share* (2005: 1.51p per share*) 1.8 1.7

4.9 4.6

* Restated for the effects of the rights issue.

In addition, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 November 2006 of 2.8p which will
absorb an estimated £4.3m of shareholders’ funds. Conditional upon approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be
held on 9 May 2007 and accordingly not accrued in these accounts, it will be paid on 16 May 2007 to shareholders who are on the
register of members on 20 April 2007.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding excluding those held by the ESOP which are treated as cancelled for the purpose of this calculation.

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Group has two classes of dilutive potential ordinary shares, being those share options granted
to employees where the exercise price is less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares during the year and
those long term incentive plan awards for which the performance criteria have been satisfied.

During August 2006 £41.1m net of costs was raised by a fully underwritten 1 for 2 rights issue at 85p. The closing market price on 
6 July 2006, the latest date prior to the announcement of the rights issue, was 131.75p. The rights price represented a 35% discount
to the closing share price on 6 July 2006. The comparative earnings per share for the year ended 30 November 2005 has been
restated to allow for easy comparison.

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below
2006 2005

Weighted Weighted
average average
number Per share number of Per share

Earnings of shares amount Earnings shares amount
£m (millions) pence £m (millions) pence

(restated) (restated)

Statutory — 
continuing and discontinued business

Basic earnings per share
Earnings/(losses) attributable to ordinary

shareholders 6.7 115.481 5.80 (7.2) 112.600 (6.39)
Effect of dilutive items
Share based payment — 1.689 — — 2.513 —

Diluted earnings per share 6.7 117.170 5.72 (7.2) 115.113 (6.25)

Statutory — continuing business
Basic earnings per share
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 6.7 115.481 5.80 0.4 112.600 0.36
Effect of dilutive items
Share based payment — 1.689 — — 2.513 —

Diluted earnings per share 6.7 117.170 5.72 0.4 115.113 0.35

Before amortisation and non-recurring items
Basic earnings per share
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 10.1 115.481 8.75 10.7 112.600 9.50
Effect of dilutive items
Share based payment — 1.689 — — 2.513 —

Diluted earnings per share 10.1 117.170 8.62 10.7 115.113 9.30
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11. GOODWILL
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Cost and net book value
At 1 December 25.0 10.8
Exchange adjustment (0.4) —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 28) 22.0 14.2

At 30 November 46.6 25.0

Cash generating units
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) which have been identified according to the principal markets in
which each business operates. A summary of the carrying value presented at CGU level is shown below

Group
2006 2005
Cost Cost

and net and net
book value book value

£m £m

Cash generating unit
Floors 10.6 10.6
Specialist yarns 7.0 7.0
Fabrics and fibres 10.2 7.2
Polymeric mats and composites 18.6 —
Other 0.2 0.2

At 30 November 46.6 25.0

During the year management has carried out an impairment review for the goodwill carried in each cash generating unit. All
recoverable amounts are based on value in use and the key assumptions applied in the value in use calculations are set out below

1) Cash flow projections
The Group prepares five year risk adjusted cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent annual financial budgets approved by the
Directors with an appropriate extrapolation of these cash flows to a five year time horizon.

2) Discount Rate
A weighted average cost of capital of 14% on a pre-tax basis is used to discount the five year cash flow forecasts from each cash
generating unit.

3) Growth Rates
Growth rates of between 5% and 10% are used to extrapolate cash flow forecasts in the short term.

No impairment arose as a result of the valuations.
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12. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
Non-

Computer Order Customer Marketing Technology compete
software backlog relationships related based agreements Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 December 2004 2.1 — — — — — 2.1

Acquisition of subsidiaries — 0.2 5.1 — 3.3 0.6 9.2
Purchased 0.4 — — — — — 0.4

At 30 November 2005 2.5 0.2 5.1 — 3.3 0.6 11.7
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.2 — 6.3 2.5 5.9 0.6 15.5
Purchased 0.3 — — — — — 0.3
Disposed (0.5) — — — — — (0.5)

At 30 November 2006 2.5 0.2 11.4 2.5 9.2 1.2 27.0

Aggregate amortisation:
At 1 December 2004 1.6 — — — — — 1.6

Charge for the year 0.2 0.2 0.4 — 0.3 — 1.1

At 30 November 2005 1.8 0.2 0.4 — 0.3 — 2.7

Charge for the year 0.4 — 0.9 0.1 0.7 0.3 2.4
Disposals (0.5) — — — — — (0.5)

At 30 November 2006 1.7 0.2 1.3 0.1 1.0 0.3 4.6

Net book value:
At 30 November 2006 0.8 — 10.1 2.4 8.2 0.9 22.4

At 30 November 2005 0.7 — 4.7 — 3.0 0.6 9.0

At 1 December 2004 0.5 — — — — — 0.5

Notes:
1) Marketing related intangible assets are assets that are primarily used in the marketing or promotion of products or services. Such

assets include trademarks, trade names, service marks and internet domain names.

2) Non-compete agreements prohibit a seller from competing with the purchaser of a business.

3) Customer relationships consist of customer lists, customer contracts and relationships and non contractual customer relationships. 

4) Technology based intangible assets relate to innovations and technological advances and include patented and unpatented
technology, databases and trade secrets.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group Company

Plant and Plant and
Property Equipment Total Property Equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 December 2004 40.1 112.5 152.6 0.3 0.2 0.5

Exchange adjustment (0.1) (0.5) (0.6) — — —
Additions 0.4 7.2 7.6 — — —
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1.9 2.7 4.6 — — —
Disposals (0.1) (5.0) (5.1) (0.1) — (0.1)
Disposals of subsidiaries (20.2) (38.1) (58.3) — — —

At 30 November 2005 22.0 78.8 100.8 0.2 0.2 0.4

Exchange adjustment (0.8) (2.0) (2.8) — — —
Additions 0.5 9.4 9.9 0.2 — 0.2
Acquisition of subsidiaries 18.2 38.0 56.2 — — —
Disposals (0.7) (6.0) (6.7) (0.2) — (0.2)
Reclassifications (0.1) 0.1 — — — —

At 30 November 2006 39.1 118.3 157.4 0.2 0.2 0.4

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 December 2004 13.2 81.4 94.6 0.2 0.1 0.3

Exchange adjustment (0.1) (0.5) (0.6) — — —
Charge for the year 0.9 5.7 6.6 0.1 — 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.3 1.7 2.0 — — —
Disposals (0.1) (4.4) (4.5) (0.1) — (0.1)
Disposal of subsidiaries (5.6) (29.8) (35.4) — — —

At 30 November 2005 8.6 54.1 62.7 0.2 0.1 0.3

Exchange adjustment (0.1) (0.6) (0.7) — — —
Charge for the year 0.8 6.2 7.0 0.1 — 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiaries 0.2 3.2 3.4 — — —
Disposals (0.3) (4.9) (5.2) (0.2) — (0.2)
Reclassifications (0.1) 0.1 — — — —

At 30 November 2006 9.1 58.1 67.2 0.1 0.1 0.2

Net book value:
At 30 November 2006 30.0 60.2 90.2 0.1 0.1 0.2

At 30 November 2005 13.4 24.7 38.1 — 0.1 0.1

At 1 December 2004 26.9 31.1 58.0 0.1 0.1 0.2

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £1.3m (2005: £1.6m).

Committed capital expenditure at the balance sheet date totalled £6.7m (2005: £0.6m). 

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company

2006 2005
£m £m

Shares in Group undertakings
Cost:
At 1 December 105.6 97.5
Additions — 8.1

At 30 November 105.6 105.6

Provisions for impairment
At 1 December (26.9) (4.4)
Impairment — (22.5)

At 30 November (26.9) (26.9)

Net book value
At 30 November 78.7 78.7

The subsidiary undertakings whose results, or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results shown
in these accounts are shown within note 34.
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15. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
The Group acquired a 25.0% interest in CPW GmbH, a business incorporated in Germany, as part of the acquisition of Colbond
Investments BV (see note 28).

2006 2005
£m £m

Cost and net book value
At the beginning of the year — —
Acquired during the year 0.1 —
Share of retained profit — —

At the end of the year 0.1 —

The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of its interest in associated undertakings is shown below.

2006 2005
£m £m

Total assets 1.8 —
Total liabilities (1.3) —

Net assets 0.5 —

Group share of net assets 0.1 —

Revenue 2.6 —
Profit for the year end 0.2 —
Group share of associate’s profit for the year — —

16. INVENTORIES 
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Raw materials 11.7 6.3
Work in progress 6.5 3.8
Finished goods 31.3 19.5

49.5 29.6

Inventories are presented in the balance sheet net of provision for impairment of obsolete and slow-moving items. Impairment is
estimated by the Group’s management based upon prior experience and their assessment of the current and future economic
environment.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade receivables 48.7 34.8
less provision for impairment of receivables (1.5) (0.3)

Trade receivables — net 47.2 34.5
Amount due from related party (note 33) — 1.5
Other receivables 2.8 2.0
Prepayments and accrued income 2.2 1.2

52.2 39.2

Provisions for impairment of receivables are estimated by Group management based on prior experience and their assessment of the
current economic environment, and recognised in the Income Statement when the receivable is considered to be uncollectable. The
Directors consider that the carrying amount of the other receivables approximates their fair values.

Company
2006 2005

£m £m

Amounts falling due after one year
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 74.6 0.9

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by subsidiaries 44.1 36.0
Other receivables 0.4 1.9
Prepayments and accrued income 0.7 0.3

45.2 38.2
Current tax receivable 2.5 2.9

47.7 41.1

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Trade payables 35.5 24.1
Other taxes and social security 3.0 3.0
Other payables 12.7 10.8
Dividend payable — 1.7
Accruals 12.4 13.8

63.6 53.4
Current tax liabilities 4.1 1.7

67.7 55.1

Company
2006 2005

£m £m

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to subsidiaries 9.4 10.6
Other payables 1.9 1.6
Dividend payable — 1.7
Accruals 0.6 5.3

11.9 19.2
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS, LIABILITIES, DERIVATIVES AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Group Company

2006 2006
£m £m

Borrowings falling due within one year or on demand:
Bank loans and overdrafts

Unsecured 12.0 16.2
Other borrowings

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 0.5 —

12.5 16.2

Borrowings falling due after more than one year:
Bank loans and overdrafts

Unsecured 36.4 36.4
Other borrowings

Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 0.5 —

36.9 36.4

All of the Company’s and Group’s borrowings are unsecured. Bank loans and overdrafts are denominated in a number of currencies
and bear interest based on LIBOR or the lender’s base rate for the currency concerned.

Details of the Company’s and Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in the financial review on pages
10 to 11. This is the first time that the Company and Group have presented financial statements in accordance with adopted IFRS. On
application of IFRS 1, the Company and Group have taken the exemption available to adopt IAS 32 and IAS 39 from 1 December
2005 with no restatement of comparative information. Accordingly, comparative disclosure in respect of financial instruments can be
found in note 20, which is based on UK GAAP. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
(a) Transactional
The Company and Group seek to mitigate the foreign exchange risk in transactions which are deemed at least highly probable.
Forward exchange contracts are used for this purpose. The notional and carrying amounts, and fair values of swaps and forward
contracts designated as cash flow hedges at 30 November 2006 are shown in (b) below. All mature within the next twelve months in
line with the hedged cash flows.

(b) Translational
The Group has euro and Hungarian forint forward exchange contracts which are designated as hedges of the net investments in
certain subsidiaries within the euro zone and Hungary. The notional contract amount and carrying amounts of these borrowings in the
balance sheet as at 30 November 2006 are as follows.

Carrying and fair value amount
Not Designated Carrying

Notional Designated designated as as net amount per
contract as cash flow cash flow investment balance
amount hedges hedges hedges sheet

Group £m £m £m £m £m

Current assets 117.4 — 0.4 0.5 0.9
Current liabilities 14.0 — — (0.1) (0.1)

Financial Financial
assets liabilities 2006

Financial assets/(liabilities) in respect of net investment hedges £m £m £m

euro 0.5 — 0.5
Hungarian forint — (0.1) (0.1)

0.5 (0.1) 0.4

A foreign exchange gain for the year of £0.7m was recognised in the translation reserve in respect of net investment hedges
denominated in euro along with a loss of £0.2m in respect of net investment hedges denominated in Hungarian forint.
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19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES, DERIVATIVES AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 

Carrying and fair value amount
Not Designated Carrying

Notional Designated designated as as net amount per
contract as cash flow cash flow investment balance
amount hedges hedges hedges sheet

Company £m £m £m £m £m

Current assets 57.2 — 0.3 — 0.3
Current liabilities 9.0 — — — —

Interest Rate Risk 
No derivative interest rate products are held by the Company or Group at year end. All interest bearing financial assets and liabilities
are on a floating rate basis with the exception of £0.4m of preference debt with a coupon rate of either 5.5% or 6.0%. The following
table indicates their effective interest rates as at 30 November 2006, and the periods in which they mature or reprice (if earlier).

Effective 6 months 6–12 1–2 2–5 > 5 Total
Group rate % or less months years years years £m 

Cash and cash equivalents
— sterling 0.0 0.1 — — — — 0.1
— euro 0.3 2.5 — — — — 2.5
— other 0.5 0.7 — — — — 0.7
Unsecured bank loans
— sterling 6.3 (27.0) — — — — (27.0)
— euro 4.6 (13.5) — — — — (13.5)
Unsecured loan notes
— deferred consideration 0.0 (0.6) — (0.6) — — (1.2)
Bank overdrafts
— sterling 6.0 (5.0) — — — — (5.0)
— euro 4.4 (1.8) — — — — (1.8)
— other 6.3 (0.7) — — — (0.7)
Finance leases 4.4 (0.3) (0.2) (0.5) (1.0)
Preference shares 6.0 — — — — (0.2) (0.2)
Preference shares 5.5 — — — — (0.2) (0.2)

(45.6) (0.2) (1.1) — (0.4) (47.3)

Effective 6 months 6–12 1–2 2–5 > 5 Total
Company rate % or less months years years years £m 

Cash and cash equivalents
— US dollar 6.2 0.8 — — — — 0.8
Unsecured bank loans
— sterling 6.3 (27.0) — — — — (27.0)
— euro 4.6 (13.5) — — — — (13.5)
Unsecured loan notes
— deferred consideration 0.0 (0.6) — (0.6) — — (1.2)
Bank overdrafts
— sterling 6.0 (7.6) — — — — (7.6)
— euro 4.5 (3.9) — — — — (3.9)
— other 6.3 (0.2) — — — (0.2)
Preference shares 6.0 — — — — (0.2) (0.2)
Preference shares 5.5 — — — — (0.2) (0.2)

(52.0) — (0.6) — (0.4) (53.0)

Deferred consideration payable by the Company of £0.6m is included within other payables due within one year and £0.6m within
other payables due after more than one year (note 22).
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19. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES, DERIVATIVES AND NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED 
Fair values of non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of short term borrowings and bank borrowings approximate to book value.

The Company and Group maintain a mixture of medium term and short term committed facilities designed to ensure that the
Company and Group have sufficient funding for operations and planned expansion. The maturity profile of the carrying amount of the
Company and Group’s non current liabilities at 30 November 2006 was as follows:

Group Company
2006 2006

£m £m

In more than one year but not more than two years
Bank term loan 4.5 4.5
Finance leases and hire purchase contracts 0.5 —

In more than two years but not more than five years
Bank term loan 13.5 13.5

Due after five years
Bank term loan 4.5 4.5
Revolving credit facility 13.5 13.5
Preference shares 0.4 0.4

36.9 36.4

Borrowing facilities
The Company and Group have the following undrawn committed floating rate facilities at 30 November 2006 in which all conditions
precedent had been met.

Group and Company
2006

£m

Expiring within one year —
Expiring within one and two years —
Expiring in more than two years 134.5

134.5

All these facilities incur commitment fees at market rates. 

The minimum lease payments under Group finance leases fall due as follows:
Group

2006
£m

Within one year 0.6
Later than one year but not more than five years 0.6

Total minimum lease payments 1.2
Less future finance charges on finance leases (0.2)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 1.0

The Company entered into a £140m unsecured multi currency term loan and revolving credit facility on 7 July 2006. The term loan was
used to finance the acquisition of Colbond Investments BV and the revolving credit facility was used to repay existing credit facilities.
In October 2006, in general syndication, the amount of the revolving credit facility was increased by £35m, to provide aggregate
facilities of £175m. The Company’s payment obligations are guaranteed by certain of its subsidiary undertakings.

Credit Risk
Trade receivable exposures are with a wide range of counterparties, and the credit strength of these counterparties is monitored.
Where appropriate, credit risks are minimised through the use of forward funding, letters of credit, variations in payment terms, and
insurance. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset as recorded in the balance
sheet. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk at the balance sheet date.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — DISCLOSURE UNDER UK GAAP, FRS 13
As explained in note 19, the Group elected not to adopt IAS 32 or IAS 39 in its comparative information under IFRS. In
accordance with UK GAAP the Group did not recognise either £0.4m of preference shares or £1.5m of finance leases as debt and
measured forward foreign exchange contracts under a different basis. In respect of 2005, the disclosures required by UK GAAP,
FRS 13 are set out below.

(i) Financial liabilities
The profile of financial liabilities was as follows:

Group Company
2005 2005

Under Over
one year one year

£m £m

Currency
Sterling — 9.8
euro 1.5 —
US dollars 0.4 —

1.9 9.8

(ii) Financial assets
The Company and Group held the following financial assets:

Group Company
2005 2005

£m £m

Interest bearing:
Sterling cash 0.7 2.4
Sterling deposits 7.9 7.4
euro cash 4.7 —
US dollar cash 0.6 —
Other currencies cash 0.8 —

14.7 9.8

Cash and deposits are placed on short term maturities to a maximum of three months at relevant market rates for the maturity
concerned.

(iii) Interest rate profile
All Company borrowings were at floating rates. All Group borrowings, with the exception of euro denominated borrowings of £1.1m
with a weighted average interest rate of 5.80% and a weighted average period of 0.3 years, were at floating rates. Floating interest
rates were set between one day and three months by reference to the benchmark rate for the relevant currency, being LIBOR in
sterling and its equivalent for other currencies.

(iv) Maturity of borrowings
Group Company

2005 2005
£m £m

Within one year 1.9 9.8

(v) Borrowing facilities
The Company and Group had various undrawn committed borrowing facilities. The undrawn facilities available in respect of which
all conditions precedent had been met were as follows

Group and Company
2005

£m

Expiring after two years 67.5

(vi) Currency risk
After taking account of forward foreign exchange contracts, the net transactional currency exposure on monetary assets and
liabilities in the Company and Group was not material.
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20. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — DISCLOSURE UNDER UK GAAP, FRS 13 CONTINUED
(vii) Fair values
The fair values of the Company’s and Group’s financial assets and liabilities were not materially different from their book values.

(viii) Hedging
The Company and Group’s policy was to hedge the value of overseas assets including unamortised goodwill. The exchange
movement on the net assets of overseas subsidiaries less the movement on the related hedging instruments was recognised
through the translation reserve each year in the Group financial statements.

The Company and Group utilised forward foreign exchange contracts to fix exchange rates on certain transactions in foreign
currencies. These related to normal trading transactions and the unrecognised gain or loss on the hedges at the balance sheet
date was not material.

(ix) Preference shares
Group and Group and
Company Company

2005 2005
Book value Fair value

£m £m

6.0% first cumulative preference stock 0.1 0.1
6.0% second cumulative preference stock 0.1 0.1
5.5% third cumulative preference stock 0.2 0.2

0.4 0.4

The preference shares do not have set maturity dates. Fair values were based on the prices quoted in the London Stock Exchange
Daily Official List.

21. DEFERRED TAXATION 
Group
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Net assets/ Net assets/
Assets Liabilities liabilities Assets Liabilities liabilities

2006 2006 2006 2005 2005 2005
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets — (6.0) (6.0) — (2.6) (2.6)
Employee share schemes 0.7 — 0.7 0.6 — 0.6
Retirement benefit liabilities 6.1 — 6.1 8.6 — 8.6
Accelerated tax depreciation — (10.7) (10.7) — (4.6) (4.6)
Other 0.5 — 0.5 0.2 0.2 0.4

Tax assets /(liabilities) 7.3 (16.7) (9.4) 9.4 (7.0) 2.4

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
2006 2005

£m £m

Tax losses 13.3 13.2

Tax losses include an amount of £11.1m (2005: £11.4m) in respect of capital losses. The tax losses have no expiry date. 

Movement in deferred tax during the year ended 30 November 2006

Balance Recognised Recognised Arising on Exchange Balance
1 Dec 2005 in equity in income acquisitions adjustment 30 Nov 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets (2.6) — 0.7 (4.1) — (6.0)
Employee share schemes 0.6 — 0.1 — — 0.7
Retirement benefit liabilities 8.6 (2.2) (1.8) 1.5 — 6.1
Accelerated tax depreciation (4.6) — 1.4 (7.8) 0.3 (10.7)
Other 0.4 — (0.1) 0.2 — 0.5

2.4 (2.2) 0.3 (10.2) 0.3 (9.4)
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21. DEFERRED TAXATION CONTINUED 
Movement in deferred tax during the year ended 30 November 2005

Balance Recognised Recognised Arising on Exchange Balance
1 Dec 2004 in equity in income acquisitions adjustment 30 Nov 2005

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Intangible assets — — 0.3 (2.9) — (2.6)
Employee share schemes 0.4 0.2 — — — 0.6
Retirement benefit liabilities 9.8 0.3 (1.5) — — 8.6
Accelerated tax depreciation (5.3) — — — 0.7 (4.6)
Other 0.1 — 0.1 0.2 — 0.4

5.0 0.5 (1.1) (2.7) 0.7 2.4

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets of £7.3m (2005: £9.4m) as the Directors believe it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the assets can be utilised as they reverse over the coming years. 

The Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of investments in subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. In the majority of cases it is likely that sufficient underlying tax credits will be available to offset the tax liability arising and it is
not considered practicable to disclose the amount of the timing difference in respect of the deferred tax liabilities which have not
been recognised. 

Company 
Recognised deferred tax assets

2006 2005
£m £m

Employee share scheme 0.7 0.6
Retirement benefit liabilities 4.7 8.8

5.4 9.4

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 9.6 9.4

Tax losses include an amount of £7.7m (2005: £7.4m) in respect of capital losses. The tax losses have no expiry date. 

Movement in deferred tax asset during the year ended 30 November 2006

Balance Recognised Recognised Balance
1 Dec 2005 in equity in income 30 Nov 2006

£m £m £m £m

Employee share schemes 0.6 — 0.1 0.7
Retirement benefit liabilities 8.8 (2.2) (1.9) 4.7

9.4 (2.2) (1.8) 5.4

Movement in deferred tax asset during the year ended 30 November 2005

Balance Recognised Recognised Balance
1 Dec 2004 in equity in income 30 Nov 2005

£m £m £m £m

Employee share schemes 0.4 0.2 — 0.6
Retirement benefit liabilities 9.8 0.3 (1.3) 8.8

10.2 0.5 (1.3) 9.4

The Company has recognised a deferred tax asset of £5.4m (2005: £9.4m) as the Directors believe it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the assets can be utilised as they reverse over the coming years. 

The Company has not recognised deferred tax liabilities in respect of investments in subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. There are no timing differences arising in respect of the deferred tax liabilities which have not been recognised. 
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22. OTHER PAYABLES 
Group

2006 2005
Due after more than one year £m £m

Other payables 1.9 3.5

Company
2006 2005

Due after more than one year £m £m

Amounts owed to subsidiaries 37.3 33.6
Other payables 0.6 1.3

37.9 34.9

23. SHARE CAPITAL
2006 2005

£m £m

Authorised share capital of the Company
200,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2005: 132,000,000 ordinary shares of 25p each) 50.0 33.0

Allotted, called up and fully paid
At 1 December 25.5 50.3
Adoption of IAS 32 (0.4) —

Restated (100,231,400 ordinary shares of 25p each) 25.1 50.3

Cancellation of 50p shares upon capital reorganisation — (50.1)
Allotment of 25p shares upon capital reorganisation — 25.1
1 for 2 Rights Issue on 17 August 2006 12.7 —
Shares issued to employees 0.2 0.2
Shares issued to Employee Share Ownership Plan 0.3 —

At 30 November (153,282,885 ordinary shares of 25p each) 38.3 25.5

Shares issued during the year
During the year the Company raised £41.1m net of costs by means of a fully underwritten discounted 1 for 2 rights issue. The rights
issue price was 85p. 50,952,213 new shares were issued.

758,855 shares (2005: 348,813 shares) were issued to employees who exercised share options. Proceeds received were £0.5m 
(2005: £0.2m).

1,340,417 shares (2005: 102,935) were issued to the ESOP in order to hedge awards made under long term incentive plans. Proceeds
received were £1.5m (2005: £0.1m).

Potential issues of ordinary shares
An element of senior executive remuneration is provided in the form of share options and Long Term Incentive Plan awards. More
details of these options and awards can be found in the Directors’ report on remuneration on pages 25 to 33. Eligible UK employees
are also invited to participate in the Low & Bonar 1997 Sharesave Scheme. Following the discounted 1 for 2 rights issue during the
year the exercise price of shares held under option or LTIP award and the number of shares under option or LTIP award were both
adjusted for the bonus element of the rights issue.

Share options
Under the provisions of the employee share option schemes there were options for a total of 4.2m ordinary shares outstanding at 
30 November 2006 (2005: 2.8m ordinary shares). The number of options outstanding relating to options granted in the last financial
year was 2.5m (2005: Nil).

Details of the options included in the IFRS 2 charge are detailed below. There are also options for which under the transitional rules
of IFRS 1, the Company has elected not to apply IFRS 2. Details of all share options outstanding under these schemes are as follows.
All outstanding options at 1 December 2005 have been restated for the effects of the rights issue:



66/67
Low & Bonar Annual Report 2006

23. SHARE CAPITAL CONTINUED
Ordinary shares of 25p each

Exercise
Year of price Exercise 1 Dec 30 Nov
Grant p period 2005 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2006

Share options not accounted for under IFRS 2
1997 380.38 2006 to 2008 24,810 — — (12,405) 12,405(1)

1998 282.40 2006 to 2008 51,878 — — (25,939) 25,939(1)

1998 246.49 2006 6,737 — — (6,737) —
1999 148.96 2006 to 2007 4,834 — — — 4,834(1)

2000 81.57 2007 to 2008 18,534 — — (12,410) 6,124(2)

2001 52.31 2008 to 2009 212,342 — (151,208) (20,392) 40,742(2)

2002 45.22 2007 to 2010 254,848 — — (26,817) 228,031(2)

Share options accounted for under IFRS 2
2003 53.20 2006 to 2011 588,342 — (296,219) (63,442) 228,681(3)

2004 80.69 2007 to 2010 325,692 — (2,869) (16,351) 306,472(2)

2004 99.75 2007 to 2014 1,066,710 — (351,154) (88,780) 626,776(2)

2006 93.00 2009 to 2012 — 719,237(4) — (18,919) 700,318(2)

2006 118.00 2009 to 2016 — 1,344,310(5) — — 1,344,310(2)

Phantom share options accounted for under IFRS 2
2004 99.75 2007 to 2014 339,136 — — — 339,136(2)

2006 118.00 2009 to 2016 — 406,480(5) — — 406,480(2)

Notes
(1) All of these options were exercisable at 30 November 2006.
(2) None of these outstanding options were exercisable at 30 November 2006.
(3) 2,086 of these options were exercisable at 30 November 2006.
(4) The fair value per share of the awards ranged from 31p to 38p. In calculating the fair value of the options, the assumed future

volatility was 24% to 32% and was based upon historic volatility. The expected term ranged from 3.25 years to 5.25 years. Dividend
yield was assumed to be 4.1% and the risk-free interest rate was 4.8%.

(5) The fair value per share of this award was 30p. In calculating the fair value of the options, the assumed future volatility ranged was
24% and was based upon historic volatility. The expected term ranged from 3 years to 10 years. Dividend yield was assumed to be
4.1% and the risk-free interest rate was 4.8%.

(6) The weighted average share price during the year was 115p.

Share settled bonus
Details of the awards included in the IFRS 2 charge are detailed below. Details of options outstanding under these schemes are as
follows. All outstanding options at 1 December 2005 have been restated for the effects of the rights issue:

Share settled bonus accounted for under IFRS 2
Ordinary shares of 25p each

Award
Year of price Vesting 1 Dec 30 Nov
Grant p period 2005 Awarded Released Lapsed 2006

2005 104.40 2006 to 2007 168,202 — (84,101) — 84,101

Long term incentive plan awards
Under the provisions of the long term incentive plans there were awards for a total of 2.8m ordinary shares outstanding at 
30 November 2006 (2005: 2.4m ordinary shares). The number of awards outstanding relating to awards granted in the last financial
year was 1.0m (2005: 0.5m).

Details of the awards included in the IFRS 2 charge are detailed below. Details of options outstanding under these schemes are as
follows. All outstanding options at 1 December 2005 have been restated for the effects of the rights issue:

Long term incentive plan awards accounted for under IFRS 2
Ordinary shares of 25p each

Award
Year of price Vesting 1 Dec 30 Nov
Grant p period 2005 Awarded Released Lapsed 2006

2003 47.56 2003 to 2008 1,569,767 — (610,661) — 959,106
2004 74.02 2004 to 2009 175,606 — — — 175,606
2004 96.47 2004 to 2009 98,474 — — — 98,474
2005 104.40 2005 to 2008 544,972 — — — 544,972
2006 118.00 2006 to 2009 — 802,117(1) — — 802,117
2006 118.75 2006 to 2009 — 185,263(2) — — 185,263

Notes
(1) The fair value per share of the awards ranged from 25p to 106p. The assumed future volatility was 24%, the dividend yield was 4.1%

and the risk-free interest rate was 4.8%. 
(2) The fair value per share of this award ranged from 61p to 106p. The assumed future volatility was 24%, the dividend yield was 4.1%

and the risk-free interest rate was 4.8%.
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24. SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT 
Group and Company
2006 2005

£m £m

At 1 December — 60.4
Shares issued 29.9 —
Transferred to retained earnings upon capital reorganisation — (60.4)

At 30 November 29.9 —

During the year ended 30 November 2005 the shareholders voted for a resolution to reorganise the capital of the Company. This
reorganisation was approved by the Court of Session in Scotland. The capital reorganisation was required as the adoption of FRS 17
and the impairment of the Company’s investment in Bonar International Holdings Ltd triggered by the sale of the Plastics Division
extinguished the Company’s distributable reserves. Without such a capital reorganisation the Company would have been unable to
pay a dividend to shareholders.

25. OTHER RESERVES 
Group Group

2006 2005
£m £m

Translation reserve
At 1 December 1.0 —
Adjustments on translation of currency loans to fund overseas investments 0.5 1.2
Adjustments on translation of net assets and results of overseas subsidiaries (1.3) (0.2)

At 30 November 0.2 1.0

Group — retained earnings
Cash Flow

Hedge
ESOP Reserve Other Total

£m £m £m £m

At 1 December 2005 (0.2) — 39.5 39.3
Adoption of IAS 39 — 0.3 — 0.3

Restated at 1 December 2005 (0.2) 0.3 39.5 39.6
Total recognised income and (expense) for the year — (0.3) 11.8 11.5
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders (note 9) — — (4.9) (4.9)
Purchase of own shares (1.5) — — (1.5)
Share based payment — — 1.0 1.0

At 30 November 2006 (1.7) — 47.4 45.7

Cash Flow
Hedge

ESOP Reserve Other Total
£m £m £m £m

At 1 December 2004 — — (33.8) (33.8)
Total recognised income and (expense) for the year — — (7.7) (7.7)
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders (note 9) — — (4.6) (4.6)
Capital reorganisation — — 85.5 85.5
Purchase of own shares (0.2) — (0.1) (0.3)
Share based payment — — 0.2 0.2

At 30 November 2005 (0.2) — 39.5 39.3
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25. OTHER RESERVES CONTINUED
Company — retained earnings

ESOP Other Total
£m £m £m

At 1 December 2005 (0.2) 22.3 22.1
Adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 — — —

Restated at 1 December 2005 (0.2) 22.3 22.1
Total recognised income and (expense) for the year — 5.1 5.1
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders (note 9) — (4.9) (4.9)
Purchase of own shares (1.5) — (1.5)
Share based payment — 0.9 0.9

At 30 November 2006 (1.7) 23.4 21.7

ESOP Other Total
£m £m £m

At 1 December 2004 — (25.6) (25.6)
Total recognised income and (expense) for the year — (33.1) (33.1)
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders (note 9) — (4.6) (4.6)
Capital reorganisation — 85.5 85.5
Purchase of own shares (0.2) (0.1) (0.3)
Share based payment — 0.2 0.2

At 30 November 2005 (0.2) 22.3 22.1

26. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Equity

attributable
to equity

Share Share Translation Retained holders of Minority Total
capital premium reserve earnings the parent interest equity

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

At 1 December 2005 25.5 — 1.0 39.3 65.8 2.8 68.6
Restated for adoption of IAS 32 and

IAS 39 (0.4) — — 0.3 (0.1) — (0.1)

Restated at 1 December 2005 25.1 — 1.0 39.6 65.7 2.8 68.5
Total recognised income/(expense)

for the year — — (0.8) 11.5 10.7 0.1 10.8
Purchase of minority interest — — — — — (0.1) (0.1)
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders — — — (4.9) (4.9) — (4.9)
Share based payment — — — 1.0 1.0 — 1.0
Ordinary shares issued 13.2 29.9 — — 43.1 — 43.1
Purchase of own shares — — — (1.5) (1.5) — (1.5)

Net increase/(decrease) for the year 13.2 29.9 (0.8) 6.1 48.4 — 48.4

At 30 November 2006 38.3 29.9 0.2 45.7 114.1 2.8 116.9
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26. RECONCILIATION OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CONTINUED
Equity

attributable
to equity

Share Share Translation Retained holders of Minority Total
capital premium reserve earnings the parent interest equity

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

At 1 December 2004 50.3 60.4 — (33.8) 76.9 2.2 79.1
Total recognised income/(expense)

for the year — — 1.0 (7.7) (6.7) 0.6 (6.1)
Capital reorganisation (25.1) (60.4) — 85.5 — — —
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders — — — (4.6) (4.6) — (4.6)
Share based payment — — — 0.2 0.2 — 0.2
Ordinary shares issued 0.3 — — — 0.3 — 0.3
Purchase of own shares — — — (0.3) (0.3) — (0.3)

Net increase/(decrease) for the year (24.8) (60.4) 1.0 73.1 (11.1) 0.6 (10.5)

At 30 November 2005 25.5 — 1.0 39.3 65.8 2.8 68.6

Equity
attributable

to equity
Share Share Retained holders of

capital premium earnings the parent
Company £m £m £m £m

At 1 December 2005 25.5 — 22.1 47.6
Restated for adoption of IAS 32 and IAS 39 (0.4) — — (0.4)

Restated at 1 December 2005 25.1 — 22.1 47.2
Total recognised income/(expense) for the year — — 5.1 5.1
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders — — (4.9) (4.9)
Share based payment — — 0.9 0.9
Ordinary shares issued 13.2 29.9 — 43.1
Purchase of own shares — — (1.5) (1.5)

Net increase/(decrease) for the year 13.2 29.9 (0.4) 42.7

At 30 November 2006 38.3 29.9 21.7 89.9

Equity
attributable

to equity
Share Share Retained holders of

capital premium earnings the parent
Company £m £m £m £m

At 1 December 2004 50.3 60.4 (25.6) 85.1
Total recognised income/(expense) for the year — — (33.1) (33.1)
Capital reorganisation (25.1) (60.4) 85.5 —
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders — — (4.6) (4.6)
Share based payment — — 0.2 0.2
Ordinary shares issued 0.3 — — 0.3
Purchase of own shares — — (0.3) (0.3)

Net increase/(decrease) for the year (24.8) (60.4) 47.7 (37.5)

At 30 November 2005 25.5 — 22.1 47.6
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27. MINORITY INTEREST
Group

2006 2005
£m £m

At 1 December 2.8 2.2

Acquisition of subsidiary (0.1) —
Share of profit after taxation 0.4 0.3
Exchange adjustment (0.3) 0.3

At 30 November 2.8 2.8

28. ACQUISITIONS
The Group purchased 100% of the voting shares of two companies during the year for a total consideration and costs of £82.0m
(including the assumption of cash balances of £3.8m and external debt of £45.9m), of which £72.3m was in respect of Colbond
Investments BV (the “Colbond Group”). In addition, the Group increased its stake in its Chinese subsidiary Yihua Bonar from 50.1% to
60.0% by way of a transaction that involved the grant of a perpetual licence of the Group’s proprietary intellectual property in the
manufacture of artificial grass yarns to Yihua Bonar. 

All of these purchases have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. From the dates of acquisition to 
30 November 2006 the acquisitions contributed £44.3m of revenue (Colbond Group: £34.7m) and £2.1m profit after tax to the Group
(Colbond Group: £1.4m).

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 December 2005 Group revenue would have been £295.6m and profit after tax would have been
£9.5m. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiary to
reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 December 2005 with the consequential tax effects. 

The goodwill arising on the acquisitions during the year is attributable to the anticipated profitability of these acquisitions and the
future operating synergies arising in the enlarged Group. These acquisitions bring access to new markets and product ranges and will
provide opportunities to generate additional profitability and operating efficiencies respect of existing markets. 

(a) Colbond Group acquisition
On 31 July 2006 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Colbond Group for a cash consideration of up to €106.9m. Colbond
Group is a producer of synthetic non-woven textiles (for flooring, automotive, and construction appliances) and three dimensional
polymeric mats and composites (for civil engineering building and industrial appliances). The acquisition represents an important
strategic step in the development of the Group’s Technical Textiles Division. 

The Group acquired Colbond Group with cash balances of £3.7m and aggregate borrowings of £45.9m. Acquisition costs were £2.9m.
Of the total consideration, €3.6m is deferred and dependent upon certain vendor warranty obligations being met. The fair values of
identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows 
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28. ACQUISITIONS CONTINUED
Book Fair value Fair
value adjustments value

£m £m £m

Investment in associate 0.1 — 0.1
Intangible assets 0.2 12.5 12.7
Deferred tax assets 1.1 0.6 1.7
Property, plant and equipment 50.7 — 50.7
Inventories 12.1 — 12.1
Trade and other receivables 13.1 — 13.1
Current tax liabilities (0.2) (1.0) (1.2)
Trade and other payables (18.2) (2.5) (20.7)
Deferred tax liabilities (7.8) (3.7) (11.5)
Post-employment benefits (3.8) — (3.8)

Net assets 47.3 5.9 53.2

Cash consideration paid including costs 30.1
Less cash acquired with business (3.7)
Add external debt acquired 45.9

Net cash outflow 72.3

Goodwill arising on consolidation 19.1

The fair value adjustments above have arisen as follows and are provisional
(i) Recognition of intangible assets for marketing related assets, customer relationships and technology based assets.
(ii) Assets and liabilities have been fair valued at the date of acquisition.
(iii) Provision has been made for onerous contracts in accordance with IFRS 3.
(iv)As required by IAS12 “Income Taxes”, current and deferred tax has been provided on the above adjustments.

(b) Geo-Tipptex Acquisition
On 28 February 2006 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Geo-Tipptex Kft for a maximum cash consideration of €14.0m
including the assumption of cash balances of £0.1m. Acquisition costs were £0.3m. €2.0m of the consideration was placed in escrow,
of which €1.0m remains in escrow at 30 November 2006. The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

Book Fair value Fair
value adjustments value

£m £m £m

Intangible assets — 2.8 2.8
Property, plant and equipment 1.8 0.3 2.1
Inventories 2.0 — 2.0
Trade and other receivables 2.5 — 2.5
Trade and other payables (2.1) (0.1) (2.2)
Deferred tax liabilities — (0.4) (0.4)

Net assets 4.2 2.6 6.8

Cash consideration paid including costs 9.8
Less cash acquired with business (0.1)

Net cash outflow 9.7

Goodwill arising on consolidation 2.9

The fair value adjustments above relate principally to intangible fixed assets acquired and the associated deferred tax liabilities. At 
31 May 2006 fair value adjustments in respect of Geo-Tipptex were shown as provisional. The total amount was £2.2m at this date.
These fair value adjustments of £2.6m are now final.

(c) Yihua Bonar Acquisition
The Group increased its stake in its Chinese subsidiary Yihua Bonar from 50.1% to 60.0% on 26 April 2006. The transaction was
completed by way of a grant of a perpetual licence of the Group’s proprietary intellectual property in the manufacture of artificial
grass yarns to Yihua Bonar. The technology licence was valued at £1.2m.

(d) Deferred consideration
The Group paid deferred consideration of £0.6m in respect of the acquisition of LCM Construction Products Ltd. Deferred
consideration of £1.2m was outstanding at 30 November 2006.

(e) Prior year acquisitions
During the year ended 30 November 2005 the Group reported a net cash outflow of £19.8m in relation to LCM Construction Products
Ltd and Xirion NV. This amount was net of cash balances acquired of £1.0m.
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29. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On 8 September 2005 the Group sold its Plastics Division for a cash consideration net of costs of £23.7m. During the period from 
1 December 2004 to the date of disposal the net cash outflow in respect of the discontinued business was £2.5m, reducing the overall
net cash flow on disposal to £21.7m, of which £20.2m was received during the year ended 30 November 2005 and £1.5m during the
year ended 30 November 2006. The Group recorded a net loss of £7.6m which comprises the post tax profit of the discontinued
operations and the post-tax loss on its disposal. At 30 November 2005, consideration of £1.6m was outstanding and this was received
during the year ended 30 November 2006. The detailed income statement analysis of the discontinued operations which have been
included as a single line comprising a loss after tax of £7.6m in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 November
2005 is as follows:

2005
£m

Revenue 51.6
Expenses (51.1)

Operating profit 0.5
Loss attributable to disposal (7.8)

Loss before taxation (7.3)
Attributable taxation (0.3)

Net loss attributable to discontinued operations (7.6)

The detailed cash flow analysis of the discontinued operations up until the date of disposal is as follows
2005

£m

Net loss attributable to discontinued operations (7.6)
Adjustments for:
Non cash loss attributable to disposal 7.8
Taxation expense 0.3
Depreciation 1.9
Increase in trade and other receivables (0.5)
Increase in inventories (0.2)
Decrease in trade and other payables (2.9)

Cash outflow from operations (1.2)
Financial expenses (0.2)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1.4)

Acquisition of property, plant & equipment (1.3)
Disposal of property, plant & equipment 0.2

Net cash outflow from investing activities (1.1)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2.5)

Cash consideration net of costs 23.7
Borrowings repaid 2.1
Cash disposed of (1.6)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2.5)

Net cash flow 21.7

Received during the year ended 30 November 2005 20.2
Received during the year ended 30 November 2006 1.5

21.7
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30. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW MOVEMENT TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT
2006 2005

Group £m £m

For the year ended 30 November
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (11.2) (14.2)
Cash flow from (increase)/decrease in debt financing (46.0) 10.8
Exchange 0.2 —

Movement in net debt in the year (57.0) (3.4)

Net cash at 1 December 11.3 14.7
Non-cash movement on adoption of IAS 32 (0.4) —

Net debt restated at 1 December 10.9 14.7

Net debt at 30 November (46.1) 11.3

2006 2005
Company £m £m

For the year ended 30 November
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9.0) 5.0
Cash flow from (increase)/decrease in debt financing (42.4) 21.5

Movement in net debt in the year (51.4) 26.5

Net debt at 1 December — (26.5)
Non cash movement on adoption of IAS 32 (0.4) —

Net debt restated at 1 December (0.4) (26.5)

Net debt at 30 November (51.8) —

31. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At 30 November, the Group had total non-cancellable commitments under operating leases as follows

Group Company
2006 2005 2006 2005

£m % £m %

Plant and equipment
Leases terminating within one year 0.5 — — —
Leases terminating between 1 and 2 years — 1.0 — —
Leases terminating between 2 and 5 years 1.2 — — —
Leases terminating beyond 5 years — 2.2 — —

1.7 3.2 — —

Property
Leases terminating within one year 0.8 0.5 0.2 —
Leases terminating between 1 and 2 years — — — —
Leases terminating between 2 and 5 years 2.1 1.0 0.3 —
Leases terminating beyond 5 years 0.5 0.2 — —

3.4 1.7 0.5 —

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the time of disposing of the Group’s North American packaging operations in March 2000, the Company entered into an
Environmental Agreement with the purchasers of the business. The Environmental Agreement contains provisions regarding the
remediation of known environmental contamination in the vicinity of one of the facilities which was sold in Burlington, Ontario. The
Environmental Agreement expired in September 2006 and the Group has an ongoing liability only in respect of outstanding claims
notified prior to this date. At 30 November 2006 an accrual of £0.2m (2005: £0.3m) remains in the Group’s balance sheet for the
ongoing remediation costs which the Directors believe will be sufficient to satisfy payments due.

In addition, the Company has guaranteed certain obligations of its subsidiaries arising in the normal course of trade.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The Company provides debt finance to various operating subsidiaries. A total of £118.7m was outstanding at 30 November 2006
(2005: £36.9m). The Company also borrows surplus funds from its subsidiaries. At 30 November 2006 the total amount payable to
subsidiaries was £46.7m (2005: £44.2m).

The Company received income in respect of management services provided to its subsidiaries totalling £2.4m (2005: £0.7m).

The Company received interest income from related parties totalling £1.6m (2005: £2.0m) and accrued interest payable to related
parties of £2.0m (2005: £1.8m).

The Company received dividend income from its subsidiaries totalling £5.0m (2005: £nil)

At 1 December 2005 the Group was owed £1.5m by Atorka Group hf, a company which together with its subsidiaries controlled more
than 3.0% of the Company’s issued share capital. This was paid during the year and Atorka Group hf and its subsidiaries divested their
interests in the Company.

During April 2006 the Group increased its equity stake in its subsidiary Yihua Bonar from 50.1% to 60.0% by way of a licensing of the
Group’s proprietary artificial grass technology. No cash was transferred between the Low & Bonar Group and the Sinopec Group who
own the residual shareholding in Yihua Bonar.

Yihua Bonar made purchases totalling £0.3m (2005: £2.5m) from Sinopec and its subsidiaries. No amounts were outstanding at 
30 November 2006. 

All related party transactions were conducted on an arm’s length basis.

The remuneration of key personnel (excluding Directors) of Low & Bonar PLC was

2006 2005

Short-term benefits 702,387 692,884
Post employment benefits 74,293 64,593
Termination benefits — —
Share based payments 105,021 —

881,701 757,477

Key personnel (excluding Directors) comprise 2 Divisional Managing Directors (2005: 2) who are directly responsible for the Group’s
operating companies and 1 Director of New Business (2005: 1).

Details of Directors’ Emoluments, pension benefits and interests are set out in the Remuneration report on pages 25 to 33.
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34. GROUP COMPANIES
Subsidiary undertakings Principal product areas Country %

Floors
Bonar Floors Limited Floorcoverings Scotland 100.0*
Bonar Floors SAS Floorcoverings France 100.0
Bonar Floors GmbH Floorcoverings Germany 100.0
Bonar Floors NV Floorcoverings The Netherlands 100.0
Bonar Floors Ltd Floorcoverings Hong Kong 100.0
Bonar Tiles Limited Carpet tiles England 100.0

Technical Textiles
Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Limited Specialist yarns Scotland 100.0*
Bonar Technical Fabrics NV Woven and non-woven fabrics Belgium 100.0
Yihua Bonar Yarns & Fabrics Co., Ltd Woven fabrics and specialist yarns People’s Republic of China 60.0
Anglo-Danish Fibre Industries Ltd (trading as ADFIL) Construction fibres England 100.0
Bonar Xirion NV Specialist yarns Belgium 100.0
Geo-Tipptex Kft Non-woven fabrics Hungary 100.0
Colbond BV Polymeric mats and composites The Netherlands 100.0
Colbond Geosynthetics Produktions GmbH Polymeric mats and composites Germany 100.0
Colbond Geosynthetics GmbH Polymeric mats and composites Germany 100.0
Colbond Geosynthetics SARL Polymeric mats and composites France 100.0
Colbond Inc Polymeric mats and composites USA 100.0

Holding Companies
Bonar International Holdings Limited Holding company Scotland 100.0*
Bonar International Sarl Holding company Luxembourg 100.0
Low & Bonar (Nederland) BV Holding company The Netherlands 100.0
Bonar Tiles Holdings Limited Holding company England 100.0*
LCM Construction Products Ltd Holding company England 100.0*
Colbond Investments BV Holding company The Netherlands 100.0
Colbond Holding BV Holding company The Netherlands 100.0

Notes
1 Unless otherwise stated, shares held are ordinary, common or unclassified.
2 The percentage of the nominal value of issued shares held is shown following the name of each company.
3 An asterisk indicates that the percentage of share capital shown is held directly by the Company.
4 A number of subsidiary undertakings, the trading results and assets of which are not material in relation to the Group as a whole,

have been omitted from the above list. In compliance with the Companies Act 1985, particulars of these undertakings will be
annexed to the next annual return.

5 The companies listed were incorporated in the country shown against each of them and, with the exception of Bonar Floors
Limited which operates mainly in England, that country is also the principal country of operation.

Associated undertaking

CPW GmbH Intellectual property Germany 25.0
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35. RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS AND PROFITS UNDER PREVIOUSLY REPORTED GAAP TO IFRS
This is the first set of financial statements produced in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

The Company and Group previously reported under UK GAAP in their published financial statements for the year ended 
30 November 2005.

The accounting policies set out on pages 41 to 46 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
30 November 2006, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 30 November 2005 and 
in the preparation of the opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 December 2004 (the transition date).

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheets the Company and Group have adjusted amounts previously reported in financial
statements prepared in accordance with the UK GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to IFRS has affected both
the Company’s and Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and notes.

The reconciliations of equity at 1 December 2004 (date of transition to IFRS) and at 30 November 2005 (date of last reported UK
GAAP financial statements) have been included to enable a comparison of the 2006 published consolidated figures with those
published in the corresponding period of the previous financial year. In addition, there is a reconciliation of the UK GAAP profit before
tax for the year ended 30 November 2005 to the profit restated under IFRS. Other than causing a restatement of the format, the
introduction of IFRS has not significantly impacted the consolidated cash flow statement or the numbers contained therein.

The most significant changes arising from the transition to IFRS from UK GAAP are described in the following tables and notes.

Reconciliation of Group equity under UK GAAP to Group equity under IFRS at 30 November 2005
IFRS adjustments

2005 2005
UK GAAP a b c c h i IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non current assets
Goodwill 31.1 — — — (6.1) — — 25.0
Intangible assets — — — 0.7 8.3 — — 9.0
Property, plant and equipment 38.8 — — (0.7) — — — 38.1
Deferred tax assets — 0.6 8.6 — 0.2 — — 9.4

69.9 0.6 8.6 — 2.4 — — 81.5
Current assets
Inventories 29.6 — — — — — — 29.6
Trade and other receivables 39.2 — — — — — — 39.2
Cash and cash equivalents 14.7 — — — — — — 14.7

83.5 — — — — — — 83.5
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 1.9 — — — — — — 1.9
Current tax liabilities 1.7 — — — — — — 1.7
Trade and other payables 56.4 0.2 — — (0.2) (3.0) — 53.4

60.0 0.2 — — (0.2) (3.0) — 57.0

Net current assets 23.5 (0.2) — — 0.2 3.0 — 26.5

Non current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 4.4 — — — 2.6 — — 7.0
Post-employment benefits 19.7 — 9.2 — — — — 28.9
Other payables 4.1 — — — (0.6) — — 3.5

28.2 — 9.2 — 2.0 — — 39.4

Net assets 65.2 0.4 (0.6) — 0.6 3.0 — 68.6

Equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent
Share capital 25.5 — — — — — — 25.5
Share premium account — — — — — — — —
Translation reserve (6.5) — — — — — 7.5 1.0
Retained earnings 43.4 0.4 (0.6) — 0.6 3.0 (7.5) 39.3

Total equity attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 62.4 0.4 (0.6) — 0.6 3.0 — 65.8
Minority interest 2.8 — — — — — — 2.8

Total equity 65.2 0.4 (0.6) — 0.6 3.0 — 68.6
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35. RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS AND PROFITS UNDER PREVIOUSLY REPORTED GAAP TO IFRS CONTINUED
Reconciliation of Group equity under UK GAAP to Group equity under IFRS at 1 December 2004

IFRS adjustments
2004 2004

UK GAAP a b c f h i IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Goodwill 10.8 — — — — — — 10.8
Intangible assets — — — 0.5 — — — 0.5
Property, plant and equipment 58.4 — — (0.5) — — — 57.9
Deferred tax assets — 0.4 9.8 — 0.1 — — 10.3

69.2 0.4 9.8 — 0.1 — — 79.5
Current assets
Inventories 33.7 — — — — — — 33.7
Trade and other receivables 44.2 — — — — — — 44.2
Current tax receivable 0.4 — — — — — — 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents 28.9 — — — — — — 28.9

107.2 — — — — — — 107.2
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 6.1 — — — — — — 6.1
Current tax liabilities 3.8 — — — — — — 3.8
Trade and other payables 51.7 0.1 — — — (2.9) — 48.9

61.6 0.1 — — — (2.9) — 58.8

Net current assets 45.6 (0.1) — — — 2.9 — 48.4

Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 7.9 — — — — — — 7.9
Deferred tax liabilities 5.2 — — — 0.1 — — 5.3
Post-employment benefits 22.0 — 10.8 — — — — 32.8
Other payables 2.8 — — — — — — 2.8

37.9 — 10.8 — 0.1 — — 48.8

Net assets 76.9 0.3 (1.0) — — 2.9 — 79.1

Equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent
Share capital 50.3 — — — — — — 50.3
Share premium account 60.4 — — — — — — 60.4
Translation reserve (7.5) — — — — — 7.5 —
Retained earnings (28.5) 0.3 (1.0) — — 2.9 (7.5) (33.8)

Total equity attributable to
Equity holders of the parent 74.7 0.3 (1.0) — — 2.9 — 76.9
Minority interest 2.2 — — — — — — 2.2

Total equity 76.9 0.3 (1.0) — — 2.9 — 79.1

Reconciliation of Group loss after tax under UK GAAP to Group loss after tax under IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005
Year ended

30 November
2005

Notes £m

Group loss after tax UK GAAP (28.1)
Share based payment a,f 0.1
Post employment benefits b,f (0.1)
Business combinations c,f 0.6
Discontinued operations d 20.6

Group loss after tax IFRS (6.9)
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35. RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS AND PROFITS UNDER PREVIOUSLY REPORTED GAAP TO IFRS CONTINUED
Reconciliation of Company equity under UK GAAP to equity under IFRS at 30 November 2005

IFRS adjustments
2005 2005

UK GAAP a b h h IFRS
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Investments in subsidiaries 79.5 — — (0.8) — 78.7
Deferred tax assets — 0.6 8.8 — — 9.4
Other receivables 0.9 — — — — 0.9

80.5 0.6 8.8 (0.8) — 89.1
Current assets
Other receivables 38.2 — — — — 38.2
Current tax receivable 2.9 — — — — 2.9
Cash and cash equivalents 9.8 — — — — 9.8

50.9 — — — — 50.9
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 9.8 — — — — 9.8
Trade other payables 22.0 0.2 — — (3.0) 19.2

31.8 0.2 — — (3.0) 29.0

Net current assets 19.1 (0.2) — — 3.0 21.9
Non-current liabilities
Post employment benefits 19.6 — 8.9 — — 28.5
Other payables 35.4 — — (0.5) — 34.9

55.0 — 8.9 (0.5) — 63.4

Net assets 44.6 0.4 (0.1) (0.3) 3.0 47.6

Equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent
Share capital 25.5 — — — — 25.5
Share premium account — — — — — —
Retained earnings 19.1 0.4 (0.1) (0.3) 3.0 22.1

Total equity 44.6 0.4 (0.1) (0.3) 3.0 47.6
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Reconciliation of Company equity under UK GAAP to equity under IFRS at1 December 2004
IFRS adjustments

2004 2004
UK GAAP a b h IFRS

£m £m £m £m £m

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 0.2 — — — 0.2
Investments in subsidiaries 93.1 — — — 93.1
Deferred tax assets — 0.4 9.8 — 10.2

93.3 0.4 9.8 — 103.5
Current assets
Other receivables 81.4 — — — 81.4
Current tax receivable 2.2 — — — 2.2
Cash and cash equivalents 4.8 — — — 4.8

88.4 — — — 88.4
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 24.6 — — — 24.6
Trade and other payables 45.8 0.2 — (2.9) 43.1

70.4 0.2 — (2.9) 67.7

Net current assets 18.0 (0.2) — 2.9 20.7
Non current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 6.7 — — — 6.7
Post employment benefits 22.1 — 10.3 — 32.4

28.8 — 10.3 — 39.1

Net assets 82.5 0.2 (0.5) 2.9 85.1

Equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent
Share capital 50.3 — — — 50.3
Share premium account 60.4 — — — 60.4
Retained earnings (28.2) 0.2 (0.5) 2.9 (25.6)

Total equity 82.5 0.2 (0.5) 2.9 85.1

Reconciliation of Company loss after tax under UK GAAP to loss after tax under IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005
Year ended

30 November
2005

Notes £m

Loss after tax UK GAAP (32.7)
Share based payment a,f 0.1

Loss after tax IFRS (32.6)
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35. RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS AND PROFITS UNDER PREVIOUSLY REPORTED GAAP TO IFRS CONTINUED
(a) IFRS 2 — Share based Payment
Under UK GAAP, The Company and Group accounted for share based payment in accordance with UITF 17 (Revised). This required a
charge to the profit and loss account in respect of the intrinsic value of equity settled share based payment. A charge was also
recorded in the profit and loss account in respect of the notional gain expected to be made in respect of cash settled share based
payment.

In accordance with IFRS 2, the Company and the Group have recognised a charge to the income statement representing the fair value
of outstanding employee share options granted to approximately 250 employees since 7 November 2002. The fair value has been
calculated using the Monte Carlo Simulation model and the calculated fair value is charged to income over the relevant option vesting
periods, adjusted to reflect actual and expected levels of vesting. The obligation in respect of equity settled share based payment is
recorded within equity and the obligation in respect of cash settled share based payment is recorded within current liabilities.

The operating profit impact of the change to adopted IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005 is the write back of a UK GAAP
expense of £0.4m and the inclusion of an IFRS 2 charge of £0.4m. After accounting for deferred tax effects the net income statement
effect is to increase profit after taxation by £0.1m.

The total impact on Company and Group net assets arising from the change to adopted IFRS at 30 November 2005 is an increase in
net assets of £0.4m after the inclusion of a deferred tax asset of £0.6m and current liabilities of £0.2m in respect of cash settled share
based payment obligations.

In the opening consolidated balance sheet at 1 December 2004 there is an adjustment that increases net assets by £0.3m being a
deferred tax asset of £0.4m offset by the inclusion of current liabilities of £0.1m in respect of cash settled obligations. In the opening
Company balance sheet at 1 December 2004 the adjustment increases net assets by £0.2m being a deferred tax asset of £0.4m offset
by current liabilities of £0.2m. 

(b) IAS 19 (Revised) — Employee benefits
The measurement criteria required by IAS 19 (Revised) is substantially the same as that required by FRS 17. However, IAS 19 (Revised)
prohibits the disclosure of employee benefits net of the related deferred tax asset as was allowed under UK GAAP. 

The adjustments in respect of deferred tax required to gross up the reported consolidated UK GAAP balance sheet at 1 December
2004 and 30 November 2005 were £9.5m and £8.4m respectively. Further adjustments of £1.3m and £0.8m were also required at
these dates to measure the liability under IFRS. Consequently, the total Group adjustments to post-employment benefits at 
1 December 2004 and 30 November 2005 were £10.8m and £9.2m respectively.

There is no operating profit impact of the change to adopted IFRS in the Group income statement for the year ended 30 November
2005. The net financing costs impact of the changes to adopted IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005 is an increased charge 
of £0.1m.

The impact of the implementation of this policy on the consolidated balance sheet is to recognise a non-current liability for post-
employment benefits of £32.8m in the Group’s adopted IFRS opening balance sheet at 1 December 2004 and £28.9m at 
30 November 2005. The overall impact of implementation was to reduce net assets by £1.0m at 1 December 2004 and £0.6m at 
30 November 2005 due to the inclusion of deferred tax assets of £9.8m and £8.6m respectively.

The impact on the Company balance sheet at 30 November 2005 is to increase deferred tax assets by £8.8m and post-employment
benefits by £8.9m, a decrease in net assets of £0.1m. The impact on the Company balance sheet at 1 December 2004 is an increase in
deferred tax assets of £9.8m and post-employment benefits of £10.3m, a decrease in net assets of £0.5m.

(c) IFRS 3 — Business Combinations and IAS 38 — Intangible Assets
Capitalised software
Under UK GAAP the Group classified the cost of capitalised software and associated development costs within property, plant and
equipment. Under adopted IFRS these costs are classified as intangible assets. The balance sheet impact of the reclassification is to
increase intangible assets and decrease plant, property and equipment by £0.7m at 30 November 2005. The UK GAAP depreciation
charge of £0.2m for the year ended 30 November 2005 in respect of software assets is replaced with an equal amortisation charge
under adopted IFRS. The adjustment required at 1 December 2004 was £0.5m. 

Business Combinations
Under the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1 a company has the option of applying IFRS 3 prospectively from the transition date to
adopted IFRS. The Group has chosen this option rather than to restate all previous business combinations before 1 December 2004.
The impact of IFRS 3 and associated transitional arrangements on the Group are as follows.

The operating profit impact of the changes to adopted IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005 is an increase of £0.4m, which
represents the write back of goodwill amortisation of £1.3m recorded under UK GAAP and the subsequent inclusion of an identified
intangible asset amortisation charge of £0.9m under adopted IFRS.

The deferred tax impact of the changes to adopted IFRS led to a credit in the income statement of £0.2m for the year ended 
30 November 2005.
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35. RECONCILIATION OF NET ASSETS AND PROFITS UNDER PREVIOUSLY REPORTED GAAP TO IFRS CONTINUED
Acquisitions made during 2005 gave rise to goodwill of £21.4m under UK GAAP. On adoption of IFRS, specific intangible assets of
£9.2m and an associated deferred income tax liability of £2.8m were recognised. Contingent consideration of £0.6m under UK GAAP
was not recorded under IFRS. Deferred consideration was discounted by £0.2m. Deferred tax assets of £0.2m in respect of fair value
adjustments were recognised. Residual goodwill was £14.2m.

On disposal of a business UK GAAP required that goodwill previously written off to reserves on acquisition is recycled through the
profit and loss account. Adopted IFRS does not require such entries to be recorded in the income statement. The impact of the
changes to adopted IFRS on the loss attributable to equity shareholders is an increase in profit of £20.6m in the year ended 
30 November 2005.

The impact on the financial statements was to decrease Goodwill by £6.1m and increase intangible assets by £8.3m at 30 November
2005. Deferred tax assets were increased by £0.2m and deferred tax liabilities were increased by £2.6m. Current liabilities were
decreased by £0.2m and non-current liabilities were deceased by £0.6m. 

Overall, the change to IFRS led to an increase in net assets of £0.6m at 30 November 2005 and a reduction in the loss for the year 
of £21.2m.

In the Company balance sheet the cost of investments in subsidiaries is reduced by £0.8m and non-current liabilities are reduced by
£0.5m a net decrease in net assets of £0.3m reflecting contingent consideration not recognised under IFRS and the discounting of
deferred consideration.

(d) IFRS 5 — Businesses held for resale and discontinued operations
The turnover from discontinued operations of £51.6m for the year ended 30 November 2005 is deducted from the total turnover
reported under UK GAAP of £227.0m in calculating revenue of £175.4m under adopted IFRS. The operating profit from discontinued
businesses of £0.5m, and tax expense of £0.3m for the year ended 30 November 2005 as calculated under UK GAAP is subsumed
within the calculation of the loss on sale of discontinued business under adopted IFRS. This has no change on the loss attributable to
equity shareholders under adopted IFRS for the year ended 30 November 2005.

(e) IAS 32 and IAS 39 — Financial instruments
IAS 32 and IAS 39 address the accounting for, and financial reporting of, financial instruments. IAS 32 covers disclosure and
presentation whilst IAS 39 covers recognition and measurement. The Group has taken the option available under IFRS 1 and the
standards have been adopted from 1 December 2005, with no restatement of comparative information.

(f) IAS 12 — Income taxes
IAS 12 requires deferred tax assets and liabilities to be disclosed separately on the Group’s balance sheet. 

The major impact is that the deferred tax asset relating to employee benefits is shown separately from the related obligation. 

IAS 12 requires deferred tax to be recognised when there is a difference between the accounting and taxable base of an item in the
financial statements.

Accordingly, deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of share based payment and fair value adjustments arising on
acquisitions. Deferred tax liabilities are recorded in respect of identified intangible assets arising on consolidation. 

(g) Non-recurring items
Under UK GAAP the Group reported operating exceptional items amounting to a cost to the profit and loss account of £1.2m for the
year ended 30 November 2005. Under adopted IFRS these are disclosed in the income statement as non-recurring items.

Under UK GAAP the Group reported non-operating exceptional items amounting to a net cost to the profit and loss account of
£36.6m for the year ended 30 November 2005. There were three components to this net cost of £36.6m: a charge to the profit and
loss account of £28.4m relating to the loss on sale of the Plastics Division which is included within the line Discontinued operations
under adopted IFRS; a charge to the profit and loss account of £8.5m relating to the fine imposed on the Group by the European
Commission in respect of an alleged cartel operated in the industrial bag market which relates to a business disposed of in 1997 and
is disclosed separately in the income statement under adopted IFRS; and a credit to the profit and loss account of £0.2m relating to a
gain on sale of fixed assets which is included as a non-recurring item within operating profit under adopted IFRS.

(h) IAS 10 — Post-balance sheets events
IAS 10 requires dividends to be recognised as a liability when they are declared. For a final dividend this is usually after the accounting
period to which it relates. Consequently there is an adjustment to remove the liability for the 2004 final dividend accrued under UK
GAAP at 1 December 2004, but not formally declared until 20 April 2005. There is a further adjustment for the final dividend for the
year ended 30 November 2005 included in the balance sheet at 30 November 2005 that had not been declared at that date. The net
impact is to increase both Company and Group net assets by £2.9m at 1 December 2004 and £3.0m at 30 November 2005.

(i) IAS 21 — Foreign Exchange
The Group has taken the option available under IFRS 1 to reset the foreign exchange translation reserve to zero at 1 December 2004, the
date of transition to adopted IFRS. This is recorded as a credit to the translation reserve and a charge to retained earnings of £7.5m.
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IFRS UK GAAP
2005 2004

2006 Restated 2005 Restated 2003 2002
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 224.5 175.4 227.0 201.7 191.7 162.6
Operating profit before amortisation
and non-recurring items 17.0 13.3 13.6 13.0 11.5 7.7
Operating profit 12.1 11.2 11.1 12.0 10.1 6.4
Profit/(loss) before tax 9.8 1.6 (26.6) 11.0 9.2 4.5
Profit/(loss) after tax 7.1 0.7 (28.1) 7.1 6.0 2.1

Net (debt)/cash (46.1) 12.8 12.8 15.0 10.4 18.2

Per 25p ordinary share
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (p) 5.80 (6.39) (25.26) 6.23 5.36 1.84
Dividends per share (p) 4.40 4.17 4.17 3.99 3.72 3.55

Figures for 2002 to 2004 are presented under UK GAAP. The Group adopted IFRS for the first time in the year ended 30 November 2006.
The IFRS transition date was 1 December 2004 and accordingly only comparative information for the year ended 30 November 2005 has
been restated on an IFRS basis. The 2004 UK GAAP data is restated for the adoption of FRS 17 on 1 December 2004. It has not been
practicable to restate earlier years.

During the year ended 30 November 2006 the Group raised £41.1m by means of a discounted 1 for 2 rights issue. Comparative earnings
per share and dividends per share for years 2002 to 2005 have been restated so as to be on a consistent basis with 2006.



Financial Calendar

Annual general meeting 9 May 2007

Announcement of results 
For the year ended 30 November 2007 
Half year July 2007 
Year February 2008 

Dividend payments for the year ended 30 November 2006
Ordinary shares – interim 4 October 2006
Ordinary shares – final 16 May 2007
First, second and third cumulative preference stock 1 March, 1 September 2007





Low & Bonar PLC
50 Seymour Street  London  W1H 7JG
Tel 020 7535 3180  Fax 020 7535 3181

www.lowandbonar.com

Top right: Wall built by means of Wrap-around technique using
Enkagrid as reinforcement layer — Montbeliard, France.
Bottom left: Axminster carpet with Bonar backing yarn.
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